

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Moduli webs and superpotentials for five-branes

This content has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text.

JHEP06(2009)052

(http://iopscience.iop.org/1126-6708/2009/06/052)

View the table of contents for this issue, or go to the journal homepage for more

Download details:

IP Address: 131.251.254.244 This content was downloaded on 06/12/2016 at 13:50

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

You may also be interested in:

Symmetries of perturbed conformal field theories Stefan Fredenhagen, Matthias R Gaberdiel and Christoph A Keller

Generalised N=2 permutation branes Stefan Fredenhagen and Matthias R. Gaberdiel

Permutation branes and linear matrix factorisations Håkon Enger, Andreas Recknagel and Daniel Roggenkamp

The RR charges of the A-type Gepner models Claudio Caviezel, Stefan Fredenhagen and Matthias R. Gaberdiel

D-brane superpotentials and Ooguri-Vafa invariants of compact Calabi-Yau threefolds Xu Feng-Jun and Yang Fu-Zhong

Moduli spaces for D-branes at the tip of a cone Aaron Bergman and Nicholas Proudfoot

The moduli space of hyper-Kähler four-fold compactifications Ram Sriharsha

Lorentzian Lie 3-algebras and their Bagger-Lambert moduli space Paul de Medeiros, José Figueroa-O'Farrill and Elena Méndez-Escobar

New instanton effects in supersymmetric QCD Chris Beasley and Edward Witten

PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: April 27, 2009 ACCEPTED: May 26, 2009 PUBLISHED: June 16, 2009

Moduli webs and superpotentials for five-branes

Marco Baumgartl^{*a,b*} and Simon Wood^{*c*}

- ^a Arnold-Sommerfeld Center for Theoretical Physics, LMU Munich, Theresienstr. 37, D-80333 Munich, Germany
- ^b The Cluster of Excellence for Fundamental Physics, Boltzmannstr. 2, D-85748 Garching, Germany
- ^cInstitut für Theoretische Physik, ETH Zürich,
- Wolfgang-Pauli-Strasse 27, CH-8093 Zürich, Switzerland

E-mail: M.Baumgartl@physik.uni-muenchen.de, swood@phys.ethz.ch

ABSTRACT: We investigate the one-parameter Calabi-Yau models and identify families of D5-branes which are associated to lines embedded in these manifolds. The moduli spaces are given by sets of Riemann curves, which form a web whose intersection points are described by permutation branes. We arrive at a geometric interpretation for bulkboundary correlators as holomorphic differentials on the moduli space and use this to compute effective open-closed superpotentials to all orders in the open string couplings. The fixed points of D5-brane moduli under bulk deformations are determined.

KEYWORDS: D-branes, Conformal Field Models in String Theory, Topological Strings



Contents

1	Introduction	1
	1.1 Matrix factorisations	3
	1.2 Three-point functions and bulk-boundary correlators	3
	1.3 Minimal models	4
	1.4 Permutation branes	5
	1.5 Equivalence classes	6
2	The Fermat quintic	6
	2.1 D-branes families	6
	2.2 Spectra	9
	2.3 The moduli web	10
	2.4 Bulk deformations and superpotential	12
3	The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$	14
	3.1 Embedded lines	15
	3.2 Permutation points	15
	3.3 Marginal cohomology on the branches	16
	3.4 The moduli web	17
	3.5 Obstructions	18
	3.6 Bulk deformations	19
	3.7 Effective superpotentials	21
4	The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$	21
	4.1 Lines and the moduli web	22
	4.2 Bulk perturbations and effective superpotentials	23
5	The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$	24
	5.1 Lines and the moduli web	25
	5.2 Bulk perturbations and effective superpotentials	27
6	Conclusions	28
\mathbf{A}	Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,1)}[5]$	30
в	Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$	30
С	Marginal spectrum on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$	30
	C.1 Fermions of charge 1	30
	C.2 Fermions of charge $\frac{2}{3}$	32
	C.3 Fermions of charge $\frac{1}{3}$	32
	C.4 Fermions of charge 0	32

HE.
Ю
\bigcirc
O
\frown
\mathbb{N}
\bigcirc
\bigcirc
6
\smile
\bigcirc
С
\mathbb{N}

33

34

Obstructions or	n type-1-branches	$\text{ of } \mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$
	Obstructions or	Obstructions on type-1-branches

\mathbf{E}	Factorisations	on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$	33
--------------	----------------	----------------------------------	----

\mathbf{F}	Factorisations	on	$\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}$	[10]
--------------	----------------	----	----------------------------	------

1 Introduction

The matter content of string theory depends on the compactification details of higher dimensions as well as the brane configurations in the hidden dimensions. Often such configurations are organised in families, which constitute some open string moduli space. In order to better understand the role of the moduli space it is important to go beyond perturbative calculations and examine its global geometry. In this paper we will study the moduli spaces of D5-branes in ten-dimensional string theory compactified on various specific Calabi-Yau manifolds, which are constructed of tensor products of minimal models. We compute exact superpotentials for open string moduli under bulk perturbations and find explicit conditions for branes in order to survive the large complex structure limit. The moduli space turns out to be a web of intersecting complex lines with a generic structure, whose intersections are permutation points. We construct this space exactly to all orders in perturbation theory, investigate its symmetry properties, compute the marginal spectrum and find joining relations for the transitions of cohomologies at the intersection points.

We work in the B-model in a stringy regime at the Landau-Ginzburg point, where the Kähler moduli are decoupled. At this point the model is realised as an (orbifold of) a Landau-Ginzburg theory. Our results are achieved by matrix factorisation technologies. Matrix factorisations are establishing a novel way in the study of open strings on Calabi-Yau spaces. This technology can be applied at the Landau-Ginzburg point, where boundary degrees of freedom have a matrix representation. Concretely we will work with the topologically B-twisted model, which restricts the theory to its BPS spectrum. Of particular interest will be the boundary part Q of the BRST operator. This operator is related to (superpositions of) D-branes, whose connection to the conformal field theory description of minimal models and Gepner models is well understood. D5-branes with three extended directions and two directions in the compactified space (which appear as two-dimensional branes in the Calabi-Yau) have a geometric meaning as complex lines in the Calabi-Yau manifold. The deformation space of such lines is identical to the moduli space of these D5-branes.

Conformal field theory descriptions are usually only available for certain points in moduli space. Moving away from such points is technically difficult and involves the construction of renormalisation group flows. Matrix factorisations provide an alternative description, where one has access to the chiral primary fields in the spectrum only. One of their attractive features lies in the fact that in some cases it is possible to study deformations which allow the exploration of connected regions in moduli space. A good understanding of moduli spaces and the relation between open and closed string moduli is essential for acquiring insight into the structure of full string theory. The coupled open-closed superpotential for D-branes on Calabi-Yau manifolds is much sought after. It is interesting from a phenomenological point of view since it determines various string couplings. It also plays an important role in approaches to open mirror symmetry, including open-closed Picard-Fuchs equations and relative period integrals [1, 2, 17, 31, 38, 39, 44, 45, 48–50, 56]. Beyond this it enters the discussion of background independence of string theory along the lines of [8, 9, 33, 51].

Occasions are rare where one is actually able to cover not only infinitesimal parts of moduli spaces. In this paper we will use geometrical methods in order to find matrix factorisation descriptions for D-branes at the Gepner point. Such factorisations are then constructed over the whole open string moduli space to all orders in the boundary couplings. Following the methods developed in [10] we explicitly compute these spaces for the quintic and the one-parameter family $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$, $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$ and $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$.

Under bulk deformations the boundary moduli space can change significantly (see for example [22]). We show that bulk-boundary correlators are in correspondence to holomorphic differentials on the moduli space, which is a result important for integrability of three-point functions and therefore for the existence of effective potentials. We are able to identify those points in moduli space for which matrix factorisations deform with complex structure deformations, thus representing marginal directions in the open-closed moduli space. Under such deformations the boundary moduli space collapses to a discrete set of points, fixing the open string moduli as functions of the closed string moduli. In addition correlators between boundary fields and marginal bulk fields contain information about the effective superpotential. Since we know this correlator at any point in the boundary moduli space, this allows us to integrate it and obtain an expression for the effective superpotential. This result is exact in open string couplings but first order in closed string couplings. Effective superpotentials have been perturbatively computed in [4, 12, 13, 20, 28, 32–34, 40]

We start with a brief summary of methods and results of previous work in the next section, where matrix factorisations are introduced and their connections to BCFT boundary states are tersely outlined. Section 2 is devoted to the Fermat quintic. Techniques which are important in later sections are introduced here. The marginal cohomologies are computed. We look at the symmetries of intersections and show how the moduli web emerges from joining relations between the moduli branches. The bulk-induced superpotential is computed. In section 3 we focus on the threefold $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$. Due to the different weights of the coordinates, which is reflected in the spectrum, the joining relations are modified while the global structure of the moduli web is unchanged. We obtain again expressions for the effective superpotential and verify the correspondence between bulk deformations and holomorphic differentials on the moduli space. Very similar results are obtained in section 4 while here for the first time isolated marginal states are observed which only live in an enhanced spectrum at some permutation points. In section 5 we discuss the more intricate case of the $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$ threefold. The different weights in this model introduce more complexity. Cohomologies, joining relations and superpotentials are determined as in the previous models.

1.1 Matrix factorisations

Before we start with the quintic we repeat the basic construction of matrix factorisations for minimal models, their tensor products and (generalised) permutation branes.

Matrix factorisations arise in the context of N = 2 Landau-Ginzburg models with superpotential W and are important to understand the connection of string theory on Calabi-Yau manifolds with minimal models and Gepner models [19, 23–25, 29, 35, 47, 58] in the presence of D-branes. The presence of a worldsheet boundary breaks N =2 supersymmetry so that only one supersymmetry charge is preserved. There are two distinct ways to combine the two left and right moving bulk supercharges into a boundary supercharge, resulting in A- or B-type supersymmetry. We will focus on the latter.

Supersymmetric boundary conditions for open strings can be obtained along the route described in [57] (see also [36]). This approach utilises the fact that on an open string worldsheet it is possible to introduce fermionic boundary fields $\pi, \bar{\pi}$ [46, 59]. It is in fact necessary to include fermionic boundary terms in order to cancel boundary contributions to supersymmetry variations in the bulk. The boundary fermions together with the fields coming from the bulk are the building blocks of the open string BPS spectrum. This spectrum is obtained as the cohomology of a boundary part Q of the supersymmetry charge. Q can be expressed as¹

$$Q = \sum_{i} \left(\pi_i J_i + \bar{\pi}_i E_i \right) \,, \tag{1.1}$$

where J and E are polynomials of the bosonic fields.² The supersymmetry condition becomes

$$Q^2 = W \tag{1.2}$$

or

$$W = \sum_{i} J_i E_i . (1.3)$$

Since π and $\bar{\pi}$ have a Clifford representation as graded matrices Q can also be represented as a matrix. Equation (1.2) can then be viewed as a matrix equation in which Q is the square root of the superpotential [5–7, 14, 20, 41, 43].

1.2 Three-point functions and bulk-boundary correlators

A central tool for our calculations is the Kapustin-Li formula derived in [14, 42]. It allows one to calculate three-point functions and bulk-boundary correlators. For a bulk field Φ and a boundary field ψ the formula is

$$\langle \Phi \psi \rangle = \operatorname{Res} \Phi \frac{\operatorname{STr}[\partial_{x_1} Q \cdots \partial_{x_5} Q \psi]}{\partial_{x_1} W \cdots \partial_{x_5} W} .$$
(1.4)

¹In general higher powers of π and $\bar{\pi}$ can appear. In this article it will only be necessary to consider operators which are products of Qs linear in the boundary fermions.

²We will eventually use the notation (J_1, E_1) for $\pi_1 J_1 + \bar{\pi}_1 E_1$. Also we will denote graded tensor products as $(J_1, E_1) \odot (J_2, E_2) = \sum_{i=1}^{2} (\pi_i J_i + \bar{\pi}_i E_i)$, where a suitable choice of the matrix representation of π^i and $\bar{\pi}^i$ is understood.

For three boundary fields ψ_1, ψ_2, ψ_3 it is

$$\langle \psi_1 \psi_2 \psi_3 \rangle = \operatorname{Res} \frac{\operatorname{STr}[\partial_{x_1} Q \cdots \partial_{x_5} Q \psi_1 \psi_2 \psi_3]}{\partial_{x_1} W \cdots \partial_{x_5} W}, \qquad (1.5)$$

where the residue is taken at the critical points of W. We will use this formula later in order to determine bulk-boundary couplings as derivatives of an open-closed superpotential.

1.3 Minimal models

The simplest models which allow non-trivial matrix factorisations are the minimal models of type A_{d-2} . These are related to Landau-Ginzburg models with $W = x^d$. The spectrum of D-branes obtained through matrix factorisations is given by a set $Q_n = \pi x^n + \bar{\pi} x^{d-n}$ where $n \leq \left[\frac{d}{2}\right]$. Choosing a matrix representation together with a grading operator $\sigma =$ diag(-1, 1) gives a family

$$Q_n = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & J \\ E & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x^n \\ x^{d-n} & 0 \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (1.6)

In the conformal field theory language, Q_n corresponds to the boundary state $|L, S\rangle = |n-1, 0\rangle$ in the B-model [14, 43]. The BPS spectrum of strings Ψ between two D-branes with Q and Q' is then obtained as cohomology of the twisted differential

$$D\Psi = Q\Psi - (-1)^{|\Psi|}\Psi Q', \qquad (1.7)$$

where $|\Psi|$ is the fermion number of the field Ψ . We restrict ourselves to the spectrum of a single D-brane, so Q' = Q. For the A_k minimal model with only one such D-brane the fermions are given by

$$\Psi_l = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & x^l \\ -x^{d-2n+l} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(1.8)

and the bosons by

$$\Phi_l = \begin{pmatrix} x^l & 0\\ 0 & x^l \end{pmatrix} \tag{1.9}$$

with $0 \leq l < n < d$. Thus there are *n* fermions and bosons in the spectrum.

It is helpful to keep track of the R-charges of the various states. In the bulk the superpotential is normalised to charge 2, which fixes the R-charges of the chiral bulk fields to $[x] = \frac{2}{d}$. At the boundary Q must have charge 1, due to (1.2). From this it is easy to write down the charges for the boundary fermions to $[\pi] = 1 - \frac{2n}{d} = -[\bar{\pi}]$, where $n = \deg J$ is the degree of the homogenous polynomial J. We will focus on $\deg J = 1$ throughout this paper, in which case $[\pi] = \frac{d-2}{d}$. Therefore $[\Phi_l] = \frac{2l}{d}$ and $[\Psi_l] = \frac{d-2n+2l}{d}$.

This construction can be extended to more complicated models. For tensor products of minimal models higher-dimensional representations of the Clifford-algebra must be used.³

 $^{^{3}}$ For the description of Gepner models we must in addition orbifold, but this will be of no relevance for our further computations.

The BRST operator of the tensored theories becomes a graded tensor product of the BRST operators associated to each of the building blocks.

To describe Calabi-Yau compactifications at the stringy point, one must consider orbifolds of graded tensor products. The orbifold projects on integer charges in the bulk and is necessary to conduct a GSO projection of the theory. For D-branes, orbifolding introduces an extra representation label that has been discussed in [5] in the context of Landau-Ginzburg models. In this paper we will consider only single branes; in this case the projection is on integer charges, also in the boundary sector.

1.4 Permutation branes

In the following, permutation branes and generalised permutation branes are of some importance, thus we will summarise some facts about them.

Permutation branes have been constructed as objects in CFT in [53, 54]. Their matrix factorisation representation has been described e.g. in [15, 16, 21, 26]. They correspond to conformal boundary conditions which exchange the currents of tensored minimal models at the boundary. They are of the form⁴ [16]

$$J_{\rm ML} = \prod_{m=(M-L)/2}^{(M+L)/2} (x_1 - \eta_m x_2)$$
(1.10)

with $\eta_m = e^{-\pi i \frac{2m+1}{d}}$ a *d*-th root of -1 and $W = x_1^d + x_2^d$. In conformal field theory language this translates into the boundary state

$$J_{\mathrm{ML}} \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad |L, M, S_1 = 0, S_2 = 0 \rangle \rangle . \tag{1.11}$$

As we will be interested in linear matrix factorisations, J will always be a polynomial of degree 1, so $J = x_1 - \eta x_2$, where η stands for one of the roots η_m .

For the computation of the spectrum we will consider generalised permutation branes. Let W be of the form

$$W(x_1, x_2) = x_1^{\rm dn} + x_2^{\rm dm}, \qquad (1.12)$$

where n and m are coprime. The linear factorisations are then given

$$J = x_1^n - \eta x_2^m \qquad E = \prod_{\eta' \neq \eta} \left(x_1^n - \eta x_2^m \right) \,, \tag{1.13}$$

where $\eta^d = \eta'^d = -1$. The cohomology is easily calculated. It contains no fermions. The bosons are of the form

$$\Phi_{ij} = x_1^i x_2^j \mathbb{1} \,, \tag{1.14}$$

with the constraints $0 \le i < n(d-1) - 1$ and $0 \le j < m$. Thus there are (nd - n - 1)m of them and their charges are $[\Phi_{ij}] = \frac{2i}{nd} + \frac{2j}{md}$.

In the following we will use tensor products of minimal modes boundary states and permutation boundary states in order to construct the D5-branes in various Calabi-Yau spaces. In particular we will use them to compute superpotentials on these manifolds.

⁴When x_1 and x_2 do not appear with the same exponent, we call them generalised permutation branes.

1.5 Equivalence classes

Matrix factorisations are equipped with an obvious gauge freedom. The supersymmetry condition $Q^2 = W \cdot 1$ is invariant under similarity transformations $Q \sim UQU^{-1}$. The matrix U has even grading and appears therefore in block diagonal form

$$U = U_0 \oplus U_1 = \begin{pmatrix} U_0 & 0\\ 0 & U_1 \end{pmatrix} .$$
 (1.15)

The matrices U_0 and U_1 must be invertible over the polynomial ring. In particular, all constant invertible matrices represent gauge transformations which also contain standard row and column operations [26].

Gauge transformations affect the form of Q as well as the expressions for the cohomology elements, but physical data of the brane are unaffected.

A second equivalence relation is given by adding and subtracting trivial factorisations. The factorisations $W = 1 \cdot W$ is trivial in the sense that its cohomology is empty. It indeed describes rather the situation when a boundary term in the Landau-Ginzburg action is absent (or trivially decoupled) and must therefore be identified with the braneless vacuum. Physical data of a brane are independent or the operation [33]

$$Q \sim Q \oplus \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ W & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (1.16)

In the following we will sometimes fix the gauge and choose a particular representative of the equivalence class.

2 The Fermat quintic

2.1 D-branes families

We begin by considering D-branes in the Fermat quintic, which is given as the geometrical zero locus of the polynomial

$$W = x_1^5 + x_2^5 + x_3^5 + x_4^5 + x_5^5 . (2.1)$$

This model and its brane superpotentials have been studied before many times, for example in [4, 12]. Many branes of this model are known and their connection to boundary states in the corresponding Gepner model have been worked out [4, 5, 14, 37]. It has been shown, basically by counting intersections [16] and also by more general arguments [35, 52], that linear permutation branes in this model correspond to D5-branes. Geometrically these are complex lines in the projective space where W = 0.

There is a straightforward way to associate a matrix factorisation to a given line in the Calabi-Yau manifold. As an example consider the line given by the intersection of the three polynomials $J_1 = x_1 - \eta x_2$, $J_2 = x_3 - \eta' x_4$, $J_3 = x_5$, where $\eta^5 = \eta'^5 = -1$. Employing the Nullstellensatz we know that W can be factored as [16, 35, 52]

$$W = J_1 E_1 + J_2 E_2 + J_3 E_3, \qquad (2.2)$$

and it is easy to write down such polynomials E_i by using $x^5 + x'^5 = \prod_{i=1}^5 (x - \eta_i x')$. Since these pairs (J_i, E_i) are exactly the data we need to construct a matrix factorisation, we can immediately write down the result:

$$Q = Q_1 \odot Q_2 \odot Q_3 = \sum_{i=1}^3 \left(J_i \pi_i + E_i \bar{\pi}_i \right) .$$
 (2.3)

Let us denote the matrix factorisation $Q_1 = J_1 \pi_1 + E_1 \bar{\pi}_1$ by (12), since it mixes the first and the second coordinate. Then a short hand notation for the above brane is (12)(34)(5). We can use the symmetry group of the quintic, which is just the symmetric group S_5 , to permute the coordinates and construct more such branes. This way all the permutation D5-branes can be generated.

It has been shown in [3] that there are many such complex lines and that they are organised in one-parameter families. They also give rise to branes wrapping these lines, which have been discussed in [10]. Under generic bulk deformations not all lines in a family will adjust to the new complex structure. Only a small set which does not break supersymmetry will be left. We will interpret this later as a collapse of the moduli space through bulk-induced lifting of boundary moduli.

We start with the ansatz

$$l = (u : \eta u : va : vb : vc) .$$
(2.4)

Here $(u:v) \in \mathbb{P}^1$. The parameters $(a:b:c) \in \mathbb{P}^2$ must be chosen in a way so that the line l lies in W. The condition we obtain from this is

$$a^5 + b^5 + c^5 = 0 {.} {(2.5)}$$

This is the Riemann surface describing the moduli space of the lines of the form (2.4). Note that since η is a 5th root of -1, there are five copies of each of these Riemann surfaces.

Now we can use (2.4) to read off the corresponding matrix factorisations:

$$J_1 = x_1 - \eta x_2 \qquad J_2 = a x_4 - b x_3 \qquad J_3 = c x_3 - a x_5 . \tag{2.6}$$

The associated polynomials E_i are quoted in appendix **B**.

Inserting (2.6) into (1.2) yields the same condition (2.5) on the moduli as in the purely geometric treatment. Since Q = Q(a, b, c) depends parametrically on the moduli, we have constructed a family of BRST-operators defined smoothly over the whole moduli space. Of course there are many such matrix factorisations, such as

$$J_1 = x_1 - \eta x_2 \qquad J_2 = ax_5 - cx_3 \qquad J_3 = cx_4 - bx_5, \qquad (2.7)$$

which are associated to the same D5-brane. It can be convenient to switch between representations of the BRST operator when approaching other patches of the moduli space. For example, (2.6) is a good factorisation in the patch a = 1 and we can evaluate Q at the points b = 0 and c = 0. In order to describe the patch b = 1 the factorisation (2.7) is more suitable.

name	factorisation	intersects with
(α)	(12)(435)	$(eta), (\zeta), (ho)$
(β)	(35)(412)	$(lpha),(\gamma),(\mu)$
(γ)	(14)(325)	$(eta), (\delta), (u)$
(δ)	(23)(415)	$(\gamma), (\epsilon), (ho)$
(ϵ)	(15)(324)	$(\delta), (\zeta), (\mu)$
(ζ)	(34)(215)	$(\epsilon), (lpha), (u)$
(λ)	(13)(245)	$(\mu), (\nu), (\rho)$
(μ)	(24)(315)	$(eta), (\lambda), (\epsilon)$
(ν)	(25)(134)	$(\gamma), (\zeta), (\lambda)$
(ho)	(45)(123)	$(\alpha), (\delta), (\lambda)$

Table 1. Complete list of branches and their intersections

Both sets of polynomials describe the same physical quantity, so they are representatives of the same equivalence class of matrix factorisations related by gauge transformations.

In the following it will sometimes be necessary to explicitly choose a particular gauge. To keep track of the combinatorics we find it helpful to introduce the following

Notation. The expression (i) denotes the linear matrix factorisation for a minimal model in the *i*th coordinate. The expression (ij) denotes the linear matrix factorisation $J = x_i - \eta x_j$, with appropriate η (in particular, (ij) and (ji) are gauge equivalent but not identical). The expression (ijk) denotes the linear matrix factorisation defined by $J = ax_i - bx_j$ and $J' = cx_j - ax_k$. Note that this implicitly fixes how a, b and c appear in the polynomials. All permutations $(\sigma(i)\sigma(j)\sigma(k))$ describe gauge equivalent matrix factorisations. We will not further distinguish between matrix factorisations (ij)(klm) and (klm)(ij) etc.

The factorisation (2.6) is thus given and fixed by the expression (12)(435). This notation encodes the symmetries of (2.4) nicely. It is easy to see, that there is also a matrix factorisation (34)(215), for instance, which corresponds to

$$J_1' = x_3 - \eta' x_4 \qquad J_2' = a' x_2 - b' x_1 \qquad J_3' = c' x_1 - a' x_5 . \tag{2.8}$$

In addition it is easy to find the intersection of branches in the moduli space. For example the branch (12)(435) contains the three special points (12)(43)(5), (12)(35)(4) and (12)(45)(3). As we have seen above these are permutation points. The point (12)(43)(5) is also part of the branch (34)(215) hence it is an intersection point between the branches (given that the four roots of -1 are chosen correctly). This is enough to set up a list of all branches and their intersections:

These are all possible $\binom{5}{2} = 10$ families of lines. Note that permutation points are those points on moduli space which lie on exactly two branches, so we can identify them by specifying the two intersecting branches. Thus we will refer to them for example as $P_{(\alpha\beta)} = (12)(43)(5)$.

More notation: In order to keep track of the various branches we will give the states and the moduli an index, e.g. ψ_A , a_A , b_A , c_A . Here $A = \alpha, \beta, \ldots$ and for permutation points

A will denote the appropriate combination $A = \alpha \beta, \beta \gamma, \ldots$ Later we will drop this index again as long as it is clear from the context which branch is being discussed.

2.2 Spectra

Since we want to describe the moduli space it is enough to restrict to the marginal fermionic fields in the spectrum. The reason for this is that the moduli space is generated by deformations of the boundary BRST operator. Therefore we only need to be interested in fermions of charge one.

The spectrum at the permutation points is easily obtained from the cohomologies computed in section (1.1). In (2.9) we give a list for the charges of each state in the cohomologies of the factors of Q and indicate odd or even grading by the subscripts f or b.

From this it is clear that one can find two fermions of charge 1. We write them symbolically as $\begin{bmatrix} 2\\5 \end{bmatrix}_b \odot \begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix}_b \odot \begin{bmatrix} 3\\5 \end{bmatrix}_f$ and $\begin{bmatrix} 0 \end{bmatrix}_b \odot \begin{bmatrix} 2\\5 \end{bmatrix}_b \odot \begin{bmatrix} 3\\5 \end{bmatrix}_f$. The numbers denote the R-charge and the subscript fermionic or bosonic grading.

In order to find the spectrum on the branch away from the permutation point it is necessary to explicitly compute the cohomology. The details of this calculation have been presented in [10]. It was shown that there are exactly two fermions present everywhere on the branch. One fermion is given by the derivative of the BRST charge with respect to a modulus, which we will denote by ψ . The second fermion we will denote by ψ^{\perp} . On the branch (α) we find the following explicit representation:

$$\psi_{\alpha} = \partial_{b_{\alpha}} Q^{\alpha} = -x_3 \pi_2 - \frac{b_{\alpha}^4}{c_{\alpha}^4} x_3 \pi_3 + \partial_b \left(E_2 \bar{\pi}_2 + E_3 \bar{\pi}_3 \right)$$

$$\psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} = \frac{x_1}{x_3} \psi_{\alpha} .$$
(2.10)

There are two comments at order on these states: First, as mentioned above the matrix factorisation Q from which the first fermion is derived, is not unique, but Q is subject to a huge gauge symmetry, which is given by all transformations leaving $Q^2 = W$ invariant. Therefore the explicit expressions given here are gauge dependent. The explicit form of ψ_{α} suggests that x_3 plays a distinguished role, but indeed it is possible to choose another equivalent Q so that ψ_{α} is proportional to x_4 or x_5 . This reflects democracy among the coordinates. The only restrictions come from the patch of $(a_{\alpha} : b_{\alpha} : c_{\alpha})$ in which one is working; depending on that choice it is sometimes preferable to consider derivatives with respect to a_{α} or c_{α} rather than b_{α} . This, of course, depends on to which permutation point one wants to connect the branch (e.g. the permutation point $(\alpha\beta)$ cannot be described in the patch where $b_{\alpha} = 1$).

Second, the same argument also applies to the coordinates x_1 and x_2 . Hence it is feasible to switch to a matrix factorisation which comes with x_1 and x_2 exchanged. This also changes the relation between ψ_{α} and ψ_{α}^{\perp} . Generally we can say: for a branch (ij)(klm) it is possible to choose a factorisation so that its exactly marginal fermion is proportional either to x_k , x_l or x_m . Furthermore it is possible to choose it in a way that the second fermion is proportional either to x_i or x_j . This will be important when we join the branches together to form a web.

Before we look at the connections between the branches, we make a few comments on the nature of these fermions.

It is clear, by construction, that ψ_{α} is unobstructed on the branch since it creates the modulus. The second fermion ψ_{α}^{\perp} cannot be marginal, since we know that the moduli space is one-dimensional. This can be made explicit by computing the three-point function, which gives [10, 32, 42]

$$\langle \psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} \psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} \psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} \rangle = -\frac{2}{5} \eta^4 \frac{b_{\alpha}^3}{c_{\alpha}^9} . \qquad (2.11)$$

Only at the point b = 0 this fermion can become marginal, and this is consistent with the fact that there are two marginal fermions at a permutation point. When changing from one branch to the other, the two fermions exchange their roles, as has been shown in [10].

2.3 The moduli web

We want to look a bit closer on what happens to the cohomology in the vicinity of a permutation point. For example, at $(\alpha\beta) = (12)(35)(4)$ we can find two fermions

$$f_{\alpha\beta}^{1} = \mathbb{1} \odot x_{3} \odot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -x_{4}^{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.12)

and

$$f_{\alpha\beta}^2 = x_1 \odot \mathbb{1} \odot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -x_4^3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.13)

On (α) we have (in the patch $a_{\alpha} = 1$)

$$\psi_{\alpha} = \mathbb{1} \odot \partial_{b} Q^{\alpha}$$

$$\psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} = x_{1} \odot \frac{1}{x_{3}} \partial_{b} Q^{\alpha}$$

(2.14)

so that it is obvious that f_{α}^1 is simply the continuation of ψ_{α} at the permutation point, and likewise ψ_{α}^{\perp} becomes f_{α}^2 .

On the branch $(\beta) = (35)(124)$ we find the two fermions

$$\psi_{\beta} = \mathbb{1} \odot \partial_{b} Q^{\beta}$$

$$\psi_{\beta}^{\perp} = x_{3} \odot \frac{1}{x_{1}} \partial_{b} Q^{\beta}$$

(2.15)

By looking at their expressions at the permutation point $(\alpha\beta)$ one sees how the fermions on the branches can be identified:

$$\psi_{\alpha} \sim f_{\alpha\beta}^{1} \sim \psi_{\beta}^{\perp}
\psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} \sim f_{\alpha\beta}^{2} \sim \psi_{\beta} .$$
(2.16)

The obstructed fermion in (α) becomes the unobstructed fermion on (β) and vice versa. Only at the permutation point both fermions are marginal. So, locally in the vicinity of the permutation point, the moduli space is $\mathbb{C} \oplus \mathbb{C}$.

Let us now see how the branch (β) connects ($\alpha\beta$) with ($\beta\mu$) = (35)(24)(1). At ($\beta\mu$) we find the marginal fermions

$$f_{\beta}^{1} = x_{2} \odot \mathbb{1} \odot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -x_{1}^{3} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$(2.17)$$

and

$$f_{\beta}^2 = \mathbb{1} \odot x_3 \odot \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -x_1^3 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.18)

Let us now consider $(\beta') = (35)(124)$, which differs from (β) just by a gauge transformation. We find

$$\psi_{\beta'} = \mathbb{1} \odot \partial_b Q^{\beta'}$$

$$\psi_{\beta'}^{\perp} = x_3 \odot \frac{1}{x_2} \partial_b Q^{\beta}$$

(2.19)

On $(\mu) = (24)(135)$ we find the fermions

$$\psi_{\mu} = \mathbb{1} \odot \partial_{b} Q^{\mu}$$

$$\psi_{\mu}^{\perp} = x_{2} \odot \frac{1}{x_{3}} \partial_{b} Q^{\beta}$$
(2.20)

So the fermions are connected in the following way:

$$\psi_{\beta'} \sim f^1_{\beta'\mu} \sim \psi^\perp_\mu \psi^\perp_{\beta'} \sim f^2_{\beta'\mu} \sim \psi_\mu .$$
(2.21)

Again we see the obstructed and the unobstructed fermion change their roles at the permutation point. Note that in order to see this it was important to correctly understand the appearance of the gauge transformation.⁵

With these preparations we can set up a chain of moduli branches:

$$\longrightarrow \frac{(\beta'\mu)}{(35)(24)(1)} \longrightarrow \frac{(\mu)}{(24)(135)} \xrightarrow{\text{gt}} \frac{(\mu')}{(24)(315)} \longrightarrow \frac{(\mu'\epsilon)}{(24)(15)(3)} \longrightarrow (2.23)$$

$$\longrightarrow \xrightarrow{(\epsilon)} (15)(324) \xrightarrow{\text{gt}} (\epsilon') (15)(234) \xrightarrow{(\epsilon'\zeta)} (\epsilon'\zeta) \longrightarrow (\zeta) (34)(215) \xrightarrow{(\zeta)} (2.24)$$

$$\xrightarrow{\text{gt}} (\zeta') \longrightarrow (\zeta'\alpha) \longrightarrow (\alpha') \xrightarrow{\text{gt}} (\alpha) (34)(521) \longrightarrow (34)(21)(5) \longrightarrow (12)(534) \xrightarrow{\text{gt}} (12)(435)$$
(2.25)

⁵The appearance of the gauge transformation is the price to pay for working in coordinate patches where a = 1 on each branch and considering b as the free modulus.

The arrows labelled by 'gt' indicate a gauge transformation. This cycle $\alpha - \beta - \mu - \epsilon - \zeta - \alpha$ is not the only cycle we can construct. The global structure of the moduli space is encoded in the symmetries of the quintic and the intersections listed in table 1. In order to arrive at a convenient representation of the symmetries we will map the data in table 1 to a graph by assigning a vertex to each branch and an edge to each permutation point. This graph is unoriented and contains self-intersecting faces. We want to find an universal cover of this graph which avoids such intersections and is oriented. The moduli space is then a quotient of it.

The smallest cycles one can find in this graph are cycles of length 5 and length 6, which define faces with 5 and 6 vertices. When orientation is taken into account we find 12 such cycles of length 5 and 20 cycles of length 6. The maps from S^2 to graphs which consist only out of pentagons and hexagons have been classified in [11]. The minimal standard realisation is the uniform polyhedron U_{25} , the truncated icosahedron also known as soccer ball.

Figure 1 shows the Schlegel tree diagram associated to U_{25} . The vertices have been decorated with the names of the moduli branches which they represent. Each vertex appears 6 times, so the topology of the moduli space must be a quotient of U_{25} . The automorphism group of the 'soccer tree' has been determined in [11] as $\operatorname{Aut}(U_{25}) = \mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_5$. However, this is not the automorphism group which we encounter for the soccer ball with labelled vertices. Rather, we are missing the isotropy group of order 5 in [11] for the pentagons, which leads to an automorphism group of $\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_3$ in our case. Therefore we find that the moduli space of D5-branes on the undeformed quintic has the symmetry⁶

$$\mathcal{M}_{D5} \simeq \frac{U_{25}}{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_3} . \tag{2.26}$$

In the following sections we will discuss examples of other threefolds. It will become obvious that their moduli space is given by the same web as the Fermat quintic. The construction applies to all threefolds constructed out of tensor products of minimal models.

Before we do this we want to discuss superpotentials on this web.

2.4 Bulk deformations and superpotential

Non-vanishing bulk-boundary correlators contain information on the effective superpotential. This tells us which directions are flat and which are possibly lifted under bulk deformations. We have seen above that in the presence of bulk operators the boundary moduli space collapses into a set of discrete points. Only these points preserve supersymmetry and are obtained as extrema of a bulk induced potential. This connection has been investigated in [10].

With our approach we are in the convenient situation that we know the boundary moduli space *exactly*, therefore we can study effects of bulk perturbations globally. By integrating three-point functions we are able to determine the effective superpotential \mathcal{W} explicitly. On each of the branches the bulk-boundary couplings satisfy

$$\partial_b \mathcal{W} = \frac{\lambda}{2} B_{G\psi} \,, \tag{2.27}$$

⁶If we consider the \mathbb{Z}_5 -orbifold of the Landau-Ginzburg theory, then indeed the $\mathcal{M}_{D5} \simeq \frac{U_{25}}{\mathbb{Z}_2 \times \mathbb{Z}_3 \times \mathbb{Z}_5}$.



Figure 1. The Schlegel tree diagram for the truncated icosahedron U_{25} . Vertices represent moduli branches and are labelled according to table 1. Vertices with same label are identified. Edges correspond to intersections of branches and are therefore identified with permutation points.

where b is the coupling associated to the boundary fermion ψ and G is a bulk operator. A closed expression for the superpotential can only be obtained because the bulk-boundary correlators are known on every point of the moduli space and can therefore be integrated up.

We will deform the superpotential by $\Delta W = G$, an element of the bulk chiral ring:

$$W' = W + G.$$
 (2.28)

The deformation we are interested in is of the form

$$G = \lambda s^{(3)}(x_1, x_2) s^{(2)}(x_3, x_4, x_5), \qquad (2.29)$$

where $s^{(n)}(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_k) = \sum_{n=\sum r_i} s^{(n)}_{r_1 r_2 \dots r_k} x_1^{r_1} x_2^{r_2} \cdots x_k^{r_k}$ denotes homogenous polynomials of degree n.

These monomials have a non-vanishing bulk-boundary correlator with the fermion ψ_1 , which generates the branch (α). There is a second disjoint class of bulk deformations,

$$H = s^{(2)}(x_1, x_2)s^{(3)}(x_3, x_4, x_5), \qquad (2.30)$$

which excite the completely obstructed fermion $\psi_{\alpha}^{\perp} = \frac{x_1}{x_3} \psi_{\alpha}$ on (α) .

On the quintic perturbed by G the matrix factorisation condition can only be satisfied for a set of discrete points on the branch. This set has been shown to be determined by the intersection of the curves $a^5 + b^5 + c^5 = 0$ and $s^{(2)}(a, b, c) = 0$ at exactly 10 points.⁷ At these points, the bulk deformation need not be infinitesimal, but matrix factorisations can be constructed also for finite λ .

From symmetry considerations it is easy to determine, which fermions on other branches are excited. For example, $G = x_1^2 x_2 x_3 x_4$ will give a potential to the branch generating fermions on (α) , (γ) and (λ) .

The effective superpotential is obtained by integrating the bulk-boundary correlators with the fermion which generates the branch. This is possible because the correlators are holomorphic functions on the moduli space [10]. The correlation functions obtained are

$$\left\langle s^{(3)}(x_1, x_2) \cdot s^{(2)}(x_3, x_4, x_5) \cdot \psi \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta}{25} s^{(3)}(\eta, 1) \frac{s^{(2)}(1, b, c)}{c^4}$$

$$\left\langle s^{(2)}(x_1, x_2) \cdot s^{(3)}(x_3, x_4, x_5) \cdot \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta^2}{25} s^{(2)}(\eta, 1) \frac{s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c^4} .$$
(2.31)

In particular there is a one-to-one map between the coefficients of monomials in $s^{(2)}$ and globally holomorphic forms on the Riemann curve $a^5 + b^5 + c^5 = 0$ [10]. Thus equation (2.27) can be integrated. The superpotentials we obtain this way are given in terms of hypergeometric functions by (we have skipped some unimportant global prefactors)

$$\mathcal{W}(1,b,c) = \lambda \sum_{i+j+k=2} s_{ijk}^{(2)} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,k+1}$$
(2.32)

on the branch (α) in the patch where a = 1. Here (and in the following)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\rm rs} = \frac{b^r}{r} {}_2 \mathsf{F}_1\left(\frac{r}{N}, 1 - \frac{s}{N}; 1 + \frac{r}{N}; -b^N\right), \qquad N = 5.$$
(2.33)

3 The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$

In this section we investigate the moduli space of D5-branes in $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$ with the methods developed for the Fermat quintic in the previous section. This Calabi-Yau manifold is defined by the superpotential

$$W = x_1^6 + x_2^6 + x_3^6 + x_4^6 + x_5^3 \tag{3.1}$$

of weighted projective degree 6 [18, 44]. In particular the field x_5 has charge $\frac{2}{3}$ while all other fields x_i carry charge $\frac{1}{3}$.

Anticipating our results, we will find the same structure for the moduli web, but we will see that there are now additional obstructed fermions at some of the permutation points.

⁷For the sake of readability we will not indicate the branch which some moduli are associated to as long as this is clear from the context. Otherwise, for instance $a^{(\alpha)}$ will indicate a modulus on (α) .

3.1 Embedded lines

For the superpotential W a parametric equation for (families of) lines is

$$\ell_1 = (u : \eta u : av : bv : cv^2) \tag{3.2}$$

where $(u:v) \in \mathbb{P}^1$ and η , a, b, c have to be chosen such that (α) lies in the Calabi-Yau. In other words they have to satisfy the equation

$$u^{6} + \eta^{6}u^{6} + a^{6}v^{6} + b^{6}v^{6} + c^{3}v^{6} = u^{6}(1+\eta^{6}) + v^{6}(a^{6} + b^{6} + c^{3}) = 0.$$
(3.3)

Therefore η is a sixth root of -1 and a, b, c satisfy

$$a^6 + b^6 + c^3 = 0 \subset \mathbb{P}_{[1,1,2]}$$
 (3.4)

Thus (α) is parametrised by a Fermat curve.

There is a second inequivalent type of lines in W, namely those where x_5 is parametrised by the coordinate u:

$$\ell_2 = (u : av : bv : cv : \eta^2 u^2) . \tag{3.5}$$

The condition on the moduli is now

$$a^6 + b^6 + c^6 = 0 \subset \mathbb{P}^2 \tag{3.6}$$

for these lines.

3.2 Permutation points

The intersection pattern of lines does not differ from the Fermat quintic case, since we are still considering a situation where five minimal models are tensored. Therefore the soccer ball diagram is valid here, too, and can be used to keep track of all the permutation points and moduli branches.

The matrix factorisations associated to lines of type (3.2) are given by the branches which we call of 'type 1' $(\alpha), (\gamma), (\delta), (\zeta), (\lambda)$ and (μ) . The other branches which we call of 'type 2' $(\beta), (\epsilon), (\nu)$ and (ρ) correspond to lines of the type (3.5). We find permutation points that correspond to intersections of lines of the first type and those that are intersection between first and second type, but no intersections between second type lines only.

In this setting we find two types of permutation points. First, there is

$$(ij)(kl)(5),$$
 (3.7)

which is an intersection between two lines of first type. The matrix factorisation is determined by

$$J_{1} = x_{i} - \eta x_{j}$$

$$J_{2} = x_{k} - \eta' x_{l}$$

$$J_{3} = x_{5} .$$
(3.8)

The states in the cohomologies of the factors Q_i are listed by charge:

From this we get three marginal fermions:

$$f_{1} = [0_{b}] \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3}_{b} \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_{f} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3}_{b} \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} 0_{b} \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_{f} \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_{b} \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_{b} \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_{f} \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.10)

An example for the other class of permutation points, which is an intersection of a type 1 and a type 2 branch, is given by the matrix factorisation (ij)(l5)(k) with the polynomials

$$J_{1} = x_{i} - \eta x_{j}$$

$$J_{2} = x_{l}^{2} - \eta'^{2} x_{5}$$

$$J_{3} = x_{k} .$$
(3.11)

Note that this is a product of a permutation brane (ij), a generalised permutation brane (l5) and a minimal model (k). The states are:

The marginal fermions are:

$$f_1 = [0_b] \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_b \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3}_f \end{bmatrix}$$

$$f_2 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{3}_b \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} 0_b \end{bmatrix} \odot \begin{bmatrix} \frac{2}{3}_f \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.13)

Note that there are no intersections between two type 2 branches.

3.3 Marginal cohomology on the branches

As next set we want to determine the marginal fermions away from the permutation points. It is clear immediately that the single fermion which generates a branch is given by a derivative of Q with respect to a modulus, since $\{Q, \partial_b Q\} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_b \{Q, Q\} = \frac{1}{2}\partial b W = 0$.

Let us consider the branch (ij)(kl5). The corresponding matrix factorisation is given by

$$J_{1} = x_{i} - \eta x_{j}$$

$$J_{2} = ax_{k} - bx_{l}$$

$$J_{3} = cx_{l}^{2} - a^{2}x_{5} .$$
(3.14)

The exactly marginal fermion $\psi = \partial_b Q$ is obviously proportional to x_l . Therefore we can construct a second state of weight 1 by dividing out x_l and replacing it with x_i . This state must be Q-closed since $\{Q, \frac{x_i}{x_l}\partial_bQ\} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{x_i}{x_l}\partial_b\{Q,Q\} = \frac{1}{2}\frac{x_i}{x_l}\partial_bW = 0.^8$ We thus get the states

$$\psi = \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_i}{x_l} \partial_b Q .$$
(3.15)

This is in fact only true when we are away from certain permutation points. For example, when we approach the point given by b = 0 we see that $\partial_b Q$ becomes now proportional to x_l^2 . This shows that at such a point we can construct the states $\frac{x_i}{x_l}\partial_b Q(b = 0)$ and $\frac{x_i^2}{x_l^2}\partial_b Q(b = 0)$. Of course this is what we find from the examination of the brane configuration at the permutation point. Away from the permutation point we can only find two fermions with this method, and indeed an explicit calculation presented in appendix C proves that this is the full cohomology.

The dimension of the marginal cohomology as computed in appendix C is the generic dimension on the Riemann curve which forms the moduli space. The linear system of equations from which the cohomology is calculated parametrically depends on the position in the curve. As is explained in the appendix, there might be special points at which the cohomology jumps, but if so the dimension will be larger than on generic points. We can utilise this fact and check if we have found the full cohomology on a branch from computing the cohomologies at the permutation points. For example, we know that the branches of type 1 and 2 intersect in a permutation point whose cohomology is two-dimensional. Since we have found already two fermions on branch 1 we can be sure that we have found all marginal fermions.

The same argument also applies to the second branch, where we also expect 2 or less fermions. On branches (5j)(klm) we work with the matrix factorisation

$$J_{1} = x_{5} - \eta^{2} x_{j}$$

$$J_{2} = a x_{k} - b x_{l}$$

$$J_{3} = c x_{l} - a x_{m} .$$
(3.16)

Just as before we construct the two fermions

$$\psi = \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^\perp = \frac{x_5}{x_l} \partial_b Q .$$
(3.17)

With the arguments presented above we have constructed the full cohomology.

3.4 The moduli web

As we have pointed out above the tensor structure of the model consisting of five minimal models makes it obvious that the various branches of moduli form the soccer ball diagram

⁸Instead of $\frac{x_i}{x_l}$ we could have considered polynomials $f(x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5)$ of weight 1 (this corresponds to degree 1 only for the first four coordinates). A choice of x_3, x_4 or x_5 gives a state in the same equivalence class as ψ . A choice of x_1 or x_2 gives the different state ψ^{\perp} .

as in the case of the Fermat quintic. We must check though if the cohomologies can really be joined together at the permutation points.

Let us first consider the permutation point between branches of first and second type, Q = (ij)(kl5) and Q' = (5l)(ijk) with intersection (ij)(5l)(k). On Q we find the fermions $\psi = \partial_b Q$ and $\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_j}{x_l} \partial_b Q$. On Q' we have $\psi' = \partial_b Q'$ and $\psi'^{\perp} = \frac{x_l}{x_j} \partial_b Q'$. Here we have already chosen a gauge in which it is obvious that at the permutation point the two fermions are exchanged

$$\begin{split} \psi &\longleftrightarrow \psi'^{\perp} \\ \psi^{\perp} &\longleftrightarrow \psi' \;. \end{split}$$
(3.18)

Two branches of first type Q = (ij)(5lm) and Q' = (lm)(5ji) intersect at (ij)(lm)(5). The fermions $\psi = \partial_b Q$ and $\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_j}{x_l} \partial_b Q$ live on Q. On Q' there are $\psi' = \partial_b Q'$ and $\psi'^{\perp} = \frac{x_l}{x_j} \partial_b Q'$. Thus there are two fermions present on each branch, but at the permutation point itself the marginal fermionic cohomology is enhanced and consists of three states (3.10)

$$f_{1} = x_{l}^{2} (\pi^{3} - x_{5}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{2} = x_{j}^{2} (\pi^{3} - x_{5}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{3} = x_{j}x_{l} (\pi^{3} - x_{5}\bar{\pi}^{3}) .$$
(3.19)

Transporting the fermions from the branches to the permutation point yields the connections

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\psi & \longrightarrow & f_1 \\
\psi^{\perp} & \longrightarrow & f_3 & \longleftarrow & \psi'^{\perp} \\
& & & f_2 & \longleftarrow & \psi' \\
\end{array}$$
(3.20)

In particular we observe here that the obstructed fermion on both branches can be identified. At the permutation point the branch generating fermions appear in or disappear from, respectively, the marginal cohomology.

3.5 Obstructions

In this section we compute three-point functions of the fermions. Let us first focus on the branches of second type, (i5)(klm). We find the following correlators:

$$\langle (\psi)^3 \rangle = 0$$

$$\langle (\psi^{\perp})^3 \rangle \propto \frac{b^4}{c^{11}}$$
(3.21)

This shows that ψ^{\perp} is obstructed to lowest order everywhere except at the permutation point b = 0, where the transition to the next branch occurs.

On the branches of first type, (ij)(kl5) the correlation functions all vanish

$$\langle (\psi)^3 \rangle = 0$$

$$\langle (\psi^{\perp})^3 \rangle = 0$$
 (3.22)

(and this implies the vanishing of the three-point functions of all f_i at the permutation point, too). The field ψ^{\perp} is supposed to be obstructed, since our geometric picture tells us that it does not generate a moduli branch. As its three-point function vanishes we expect the obstructions to occur at higher order.

In order to see this we perturb the BRST operator by ψ^{\perp} and apply the methods developed in [37]. For convenience we present here the argument only at the permutation point and refer to appendix D for the general calculation. Our ansatz is

$$Q(\lambda) = \sum_{n} \lambda^{n} Q_{n} , \qquad (3.23)$$

where Q_0 is the original Q and $Q_1 = \psi^{\perp}$. The first order equation $\{Q_0, Q_1\} = 0$ is satisfied because ψ^{\perp} is in the cohomology. The second order equation, which determines Q_2 , is

$$\{Q_0, Q_2\} = -\frac{1}{2} \{Q_1, Q_1\} \propto x_j^2 x_l^2 x_5 .$$
(3.24)

Indeed we can find an appropriate Q_2 , e.g.

$$Q_2 = x_j^2 x_l^2 \bar{\pi}^3 . aga{3.25}$$

The third order equation is

$$\{Q_0, Q_3\} = -\{Q_1, Q_2\} \propto x_j^3 x_l^3 . \tag{3.26}$$

At this order the perturbation series breaks down because the r.h.s. is not Q-exact, and therefore no Q_3 can be found. We encounter an obstruction at third order in λ .

3.6 Bulk deformations

Under general bulk deformations not all branes on the moduli space will stay supersymmetric. We want to identify those bulk deformations for which we can find branes whose moduli space extends into a bulk direction. Since we can probe only the on-shell properties of these branes, the boundary modulus will be fixed.

For the branches of first type (ij)(kl5) we find the following bulk boundary correlators:

$$\left\langle s^{(4)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(2)}(x_l, x_k, x_5) \cdot \psi \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta s^{(4)}(\eta, 1)}{18} \frac{s^{(2)}(1, b, c)}{c^2} \left\langle s^{(3)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(3)}(x_l, x_k, x_5) \cdot \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta^2 s^{(3)}(\eta, 1)}{18} \frac{s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c^2}$$
(3.27)

while for the second type branches (i5)(klm) we get

$$\left\langle s^{(3)}(x_i, x_5) s^{(3)}(x_l, x_k, x_m) \cdot \psi \right\rangle = \frac{\eta s^{(3)}(\eta, 1)}{18} \frac{s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c^5} \left\langle s^{(2)}(x_i, x_5) s^{(4)}(x_l, x_k, x_m) \cdot \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = \frac{\eta s^{(2)}(\eta, 1)}{18} \frac{s^{(4)}(1, b, c)}{c^5}$$
(3.28)

Here, $s^{(n)}(x_{j_1}, x_{j_2}, \dots, x_{j_m}) = \sum_{i_1 + \dots + i_m = n} s^{(n)}_{i_1 \dots i_m} x^{i_1}_{j_1} \cdots x^{i_m}_{j_m}$ are homogenous polynomials of weighted degree n.

In order to find branes which deform with a bulk deformation they must satisfy

$$a^{6} + b^{6} + c^{3} = 0 = s^{(2)}(a, b, c)$$
 for type 1 (3.29)

$$a^{6} + b^{6} + c^{6} = 0 = s^{(3)}(a, b, c)$$
 for type 2. (3.30)

There are 12 and 18 such points on a branch. These points are determined by the chosen bulk deformation. The associated matrix factorisations are given as follows:

The bulk deformation is

$$W \to W' = W + G \tag{3.31}$$

where

$$G = \lambda s^{(4)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(2)}(x_k, x_l, x_5) \qquad \text{for type 1}$$
(3.32)

$$G = \lambda s^{(3)}(x_i, x_5) s^{(3)}(x_k, x_l, x_m) \qquad \text{for type 2}.$$
(3.33)

The deformations of the matrix factorisations are given by

type 1:

$$E_{2} \to E_{2} + \lambda s^{(4)}(1,\eta) \left(-\frac{a^{2}s_{200}^{(2)} + cs_{001}^{(2)}}{a^{2}b} x_{l} + \frac{s_{020}^{(2)}}{a} x_{k} \right)$$

$$E_{3} \to E_{3} - \lambda s^{(4)}(1,\eta) \frac{s_{001}^{(2)}}{a^{2}}$$
(3.34)

type 2:

$$E_{2} \rightarrow E_{2} + \lambda s^{(3)}(\eta^{2}, 1) \left(x_{k}^{2} \frac{s_{030}}{a} + x_{m}^{2} \frac{s_{012} - s_{021}}{a} - x_{k} x_{m} \frac{as_{111} + cs_{021}}{ba} - x_{l}^{2} \frac{a^{3}s_{300} + a^{2}cs_{201} + ac^{2}s_{102} + bc^{2}s_{012} - bc^{2}s_{021} + c^{3}s_{003}}{a^{3b}} - x_{k} x_{l} \frac{a^{2}cs_{201} + ac^{2}s_{102} + bc^{2}s_{012} - bc^{2}s_{021} + c^{3}s_{003} + a^{2}bs_{210} + a^{3}s_{300}}{b^{2}a^{2}} \right)$$

$$E_{3} \rightarrow E_{3} + \lambda s^{(4)}(\eta^{2}, 1) \left(-x_{m}^{2} \frac{s_{003}}{a} - x_{k} x_{m} \frac{s_{021}}{a}}{a^{2}} - x_{l} x_{m} \frac{as_{102} + bs_{012} - bs_{021} + cs_{003}}{a^{2}} - x_{l} x_{m} \frac{as_{102} + bs_{012} - bs_{021} + cs_{003}}{a^{2}} - x_{l} \frac{ab^{2}s_{120} + a^{2}cs_{201} + ac^{2}s_{102} + bc^{2}s_{012} - bc^{2}s_{021}}{ab^{2}c} - x_{l}^{2} \frac{a^{2}s_{201} + acs_{102} + bcs_{012} - bcs_{021} + c^{2}s_{003}}{a^{3}} \right)$$

$$(3.35)$$

Those branes which do not lie at the points $s^{(2)}(a, b, c) = 0$ or $s^{(3)}(a, b, c) = 0$, respectively, cannot be deformed by bulk fields. For them, supersymmetry is broken, which will render them instable. For the quintic it was possible to derive an effective superpotential for the brane moduli.

3.7 Effective superpotentials

The effective superpotential for bulk and boundary moduli obeys

$$\partial_b \mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}} = \frac{\lambda}{2} B_{G\psi} \,,$$
 (3.36)

where the right hand side is given by a bulk-boundary correlator. A closed expression for the superpotential can only be obtained when $B_{G\psi}$ is known on every point of the moduli space and can thus be integrated up.

In [10] it was a crucial observation that the bulk-boundary correlators form a set of holomorphic functions on the complete moduli space. This assigns a very concrete geometrical meaning to $B_{G\psi}$ and is in fact the decisive criterion which tells us that the bulk-boundary couplings are derivatives of an effective potential.

For the moduli branches of type 2 a basis for the bulk-boundary correlators $c^{-5}s^{(3)}(1,b,c)$ are the functions

$$\left\{\frac{b^r c^s}{c^5}, 0 \le r+s \le 3\right\} . \tag{3.37}$$

This is in fact the complete set of holomorphic functions on the Riemann curve $1+b^6+c^6 = 0$ [30]. The basis is 10-dimensional and this is also the genus g = 10 of the curve. Therefore the associated holomorphic 1-forms are integrable. Their integrals are

$$\mathcal{W}_{\rm rs} = \frac{b^r}{r_2} \mathsf{F}_1\left(\frac{r}{6}, 1 - \frac{s}{6}; 1 + \frac{r}{6}; -b^6\right) \ . \tag{3.38}$$

As result we get an expansion of the effective potential in terms of hypergeometric functions (we have ignored global factors which do not depend on the moduli)

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 2}} = \sum_{i+j+k=3} s_{ijk}^{(3)} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,k+1}$$
 (3.39)

For the type 1 lines only a subset of the holomorphic functions appears as basis for the bulk-boundary correlators. This is due to the fact that fields of different weights appear in the perturbing polynomial $s^{(2)}(x_l, x_k, x_5)$. The basis is explicitly

$$\left\{\frac{b^i c^j}{c^2}, 0 \le i + 2j \le 2\right\} .$$
(3.40)

From this we see that the genus of the curve is g = 4. For the superpotential we find

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 1}} = \sum_{i+j+2k=2} s_{ijk}^{(2)} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,k+1}$$
(3.41)

4 The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$

D5-branes on the 3-fold defined by

$$W = x_1^8 + x_2^8 + x_3^8 + x_4^8 + x_5^2 = 0 (4.1)$$

is technically very similar to the case discussed in the previous section. The main difference is that the weight of the coordinate x_5 is much larger in this example.

4.1 Lines and the moduli web

We find again two types of lines with the parametric equations

$$\ell_1 = (u : \eta u : av : bv : cv^4) \tag{4.2}$$

and

$$\ell_2 = (u : av : bv : cv : \eta^4 u^4) \tag{4.3}$$

with the moduli spaces

$$\eta^{8} = -1 \qquad a^{8} + b^{8} + c^{2} = 0 \qquad \subset \mathbb{P}_{(1,1,4)} \qquad \text{(type 1)} \\ \eta^{8} = -1 \qquad a^{8} + b^{8} + c^{8} = 0 \qquad \subset \mathbb{P}^{2} \qquad \text{(type 2)}$$

At those permutation points (ij)(kl)(5) which join two type 1 branches, we find the marginal fermions

$$f_{1} = x_{j}^{4}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{2} = x_{j}^{3}x_{l}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{3} = x_{j}^{2}x_{l}^{2}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{4} = x_{j}x_{l}^{3}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$

$$f_{5} = x_{l}^{4}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3}) .$$
(4.5)

The marginal fermions at the other permutation points (ij)(l5)(k) are

$$f_1 = x_l (\pi^3 - x_k^6 \bar{\pi}^3) f_2 = x_j (\pi^3 - x_k^6 \bar{\pi}^3)$$
(4.6)

We now describe the fermions on the branches. Both on type 1 branches (ij)(kl5) and on type 2 branches (5j)(klm) we find

$$\psi = \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_j}{x_l} \partial_b Q .$$
(4.7)

Both branches intersect in a permutation point whose marginal cohomology is twodimensional. From the arguments presented in section 3.3 it is clear that this is the full cohomology.

The joining relations at the permutation points are given by

for the intersections (ij)(kl)(5), and

$$\psi \longrightarrow f_1 \longleftarrow {\psi'}^{\perp}$$

$$\psi^{\perp} \longrightarrow f_2 \longleftarrow {\psi'}$$

(4.9)

for the intersections $(ij)(l_5)(k)$. The fermion ψ^{\perp} on branch 2 has a three-point function

$$\langle (\psi^{\perp})^3 \rangle = \frac{7}{4} \eta^4 \frac{b^6}{c^{15}} .$$
 (4.10)

As expected, it is obstructed everywhere except at the permutation points.

On the first branch, ψ^{\perp} has a vanishing three-point function. Also, the three-point function for the fermion f_3 at the permutation point vanishes. Again, we expect the obstructions to appear at higher order. It will be enough to check this at the permutation point, i.e. for the fermions f_2 , f_3 and f_4 . For the first order perturbation we find

$$-\frac{1}{2}\{f_2, f_2\} = x_j^6 x_l^2 \qquad -\frac{1}{2}\{f_3, f_3\} = x_j^4 x_l^4 \qquad -\frac{1}{2}\{f_4, f_4\} = x_j^2 x_l^6 .$$
(4.11)

All these expressions are non-trivial in cohomology, so a solution to the first order equations cannot be found. Thus these fermions are obstructed at first order.

4.2 Bulk perturbations and effective superpotentials

When switching on bulk moduli we find the following bulk-boundary correlators on branches of the first type:

$$\langle s^{(6)}(x_i, x_j) \cdot s^{(2)}(x_k, x_l, x_5) \cdot \psi \rangle = -\frac{\eta s^{(6)}(\eta, 1)}{16} \frac{s^{(2)}(1, b, c)}{c} \langle s^{(5)}(x_i, x_j) \cdot s^{(3)}(x_k, x_l, x_5) \cdot \psi^{\perp} \rangle = -\frac{\eta^2 s^{(5)}(\eta, 1)}{16} \frac{s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c} .$$

$$(4.12)$$

On type 2 branches we find

$$\langle s^{(3)}(x_i, x_5) \cdot s^{(5)}(x_k, x_l, x_m) \cdot \psi \rangle = \frac{\eta s^{(3)}(\eta, 1)}{16} \frac{s^{(5)}(1, b, c)}{c^7} \langle s^{(2)}(x_i, x_5) \cdot s^{(6)}(x_k, x_l, x_m) \cdot \psi^{\perp} \rangle = \frac{\eta^2 s^{(2)}(\eta, 1)}{16} \frac{s^{(6)}(1, b, c)}{c^7} .$$

$$(4.13)$$

(Note that in (4.12) and (4.13) the polynomials $s^{(2)}$ and $s^{(3)}$ are independent of x_5 due to its high charge. Hence also on the r.h.s. there is no dependence on c or η .)

From this we can immediately derive the intersection points for those branes which deform under finite bulk deformations. They are given by 16 points $a^8 + b^8 + c^2 = 0 = s^{(2)}(a, b, c)$ for the type 1 branches, and by 40 points $a^8 + b^8 + c^8 = 0 = s^{(5)}(a, b, c)$ for the type 2 branches.

The basis of functions on the moduli space which is spanned by $\frac{s^{(5)}(1,b,c)}{c^7}$ in (4.13) is, as in the examples above, in one-to-one correspondence to holomorphic differentials [30]

$$\left\{\frac{b^r c^s}{c^7}, 0 \le r+s \le 5\right\} \tag{4.14}$$

	line parametrisation	factorisation	branches
type 1	$\ell_1 = (u: \eta u: av: bv^2: cv^5)$	(ij)(4l5)	$(\alpha), (\delta), (\lambda)$
type 2	$\ell_2 = (u:av:bv:\eta^2 u^2:cv^5)$	(i4)(kl5)	$(\gamma), (\zeta), (\mu)$
type 3	$\ell_3 = (u:av:bv:cv^2:\eta^5 u^5)$	(i5)(kl4)	$(eta), (\epsilon), (u)$
type 4	$\ell_4 = (av: bv: cv: u^2: \eta^5 u^5)$	(45)(klm)	(ho)

Table 2. The four types of branches for D5-branes in $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$.

on the Riemann curve $a^8 + b^8 + c^8 = 0$. Its genus is g = 21. The moduli space $a^8 + b^8 + c^2 = 0$ for the type 1 lines has genus g = 3. The differentials are

$$\left\{\frac{b^r c^s}{c}, 0 \le r + 4s \le 2\right\} \tag{4.15}$$

and this is in clear correspondence to the r.h.s. of (4.12). The integrated effective potential is given by

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 1}} = \lambda s^{(6)}(1,\eta) \sum_{i+j+4k=2} s^{(2)}_{ijk} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,4(k+1)}$$
(4.16)

and

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 2}} = \lambda s^{(3)}(1, \eta^4) \sum_{i+j+k=6} s^{(5)}_{ijk} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,k+1}$$
(4.17)

where

$$\mathcal{W}_{\rm rs} = \frac{b^r}{r_2} \mathsf{F}_1\left(\frac{r}{8}, 1 - \frac{s}{8}; 1 + \frac{r}{8}; -b^8\right) \tag{4.18}$$

5 The Calabi-Yau $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$

The last Calabi-Yau manifold we want to investigate is given by the defining equation

$$W = x_1^{10} + x_2^{10} + x_3^{10} + x_4^5 + x_5^2 = 0 (5.1)$$

in $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$. We can geometrically embed five different types of lines into W = 0, listed in table 2. Together with the condition $\eta^{10} = -1$ their moduli spaces are given by

$$a^{10} + b^5 + c^2 = 0 \quad \mathbb{P}_{[1,2,5]} \quad \text{for type 1}$$

$$a^{10} + b^{10} + c^2 = 0 \quad \mathbb{P}_{[1,1,5]} \quad \text{for type 2}$$

$$a^{10} + b^{10} + c^5 = 0 \quad \mathbb{P}_{[1,1,2]} \quad \text{for type 3}$$

$$a^{10} + b^{10} + c^{10} = 0 \quad \mathbb{P}^2 \quad \text{for type 4}$$
(5.2)

The representatives of the equivalence classes of matrix factorisations used are listed in appendix (F). Alone the matrix factorisation (45)(klm) requires some brief comments. The first factor of this factorisation (45) stands for the formal factorisation $x_4^5 + x_5^2 = (x_4^5 + x_5^2) \cdot 1$. Since this factorisation has an empty cohomology it must be identified

with the vacuum configuration [14]. This does not mean that the cohomology of the full factorisation (45)(klm) is empty. Rather we should construct factorisations from the reduced superpotential $W - x_4^5 - x_5^2$. Effectively this splits off the coordinates x_4 and x_5 from the boundary sector of the model while not affecting the other coordinates.

The list of possible permutation points is given by

intersection
$$1-2$$
: $(ij)(k4)(5)$
intersection $1-3$: $(ij)(k5)(4)$ (5.3)
intersection $2-3$: $(i4)(k5)(m)$

Generally one would expect an intersection point between branches 1 and 4 of the form (ij)(45)(m). It turns out that this matrix factorisation is not directly accessible as an intersection of two branches. To see this we derive from the parametric line equation ℓ_1 the vanishing polynomials $J_1 = x_1 - \eta x_2$, $J_2 = b^2 x_3^2 - a x_4$, $J_3 = c^2 x_4^5 - b^5 x_5^2$. This factorisation has a limit $a \to 0$ which results in $J_1 = x_1 - \eta x_2$, $J_2 = x_3^2$, $J_3 = x_4^5 + x_5^2$. The appearance of a quadratic term in the polynomial J_2 is interesting, because this point also lies on the branch 4, but the factorisation derived from ℓ_4 are linear in x_3 . Therefore there is no connection between the matrix factorisation associated to (ρ) and any of the other branches.

At the permutation points we find the following spectrum of marginal states:

permutation point 1-2:
$$f_{1} = [0]_{b} \odot [1]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{k}^{5}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{2} = [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{4}{5}]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{i}x_{k}^{4}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{3} = [\frac{2}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{3}{5}]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{i}^{2}x_{k}^{3}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{4} = [\frac{3}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{2}{5}]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{i}^{3}x_{k}^{2}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{5} = [\frac{4}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{i}^{4}x_{k}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{6} = [1]_{b} \odot [0]_{b} \odot [0]_{f} = x_{i}^{5}(\pi^{3} - \bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{6} = [1]_{b} \odot [0]_{b} \odot [\frac{3}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{2}{5}]_{f} = x_{k}^{2}(\pi^{3} - x_{4}^{2}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{2} = [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{2}{5}]_{f} = x_{i}x_{k}(\pi^{3} - x_{4}^{2}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{3} = [\frac{3}{5}]_{b} \odot [0]_{b} \odot [\frac{2}{5}]_{f} = x_{i}(\pi^{3} - x_{4}^{2}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{2} = [0]_{b} \odot [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{4}{5}]_{f} = x_{i}(\pi^{3} - x_{4}^{8}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$
$$f_{2} = [0]_{b} \odot [\frac{1}{5}]_{b} \odot [\frac{4}{5}]_{f} = x_{k}(\pi^{3} - x_{m}^{8}\bar{\pi}^{3})$$

5.1 Lines and the moduli web

On type 1 branches (ij)(4l5) the unobstructed fermion $\partial_b Q$ is proportional to x_l^2 . This allows us to construct two additional fermions so that the marginal cohomology is given by

$$\psi = \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_i}{x_l} \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_i^2}{x_l^2} \partial_b Q .$$
(5.5)

This is indeed the full cohomology because from (5.4) we see that branches of type 1 intersect branches of type 3 with a three-dimensional cohomology.

On the other branches we find only two fermions, which are given by

$$\psi = \partial_b Q$$

$$\psi^\perp = \frac{x_i}{x_l} \partial_b Q$$
(5.6)

for both, branches of second and third type. Again, (5.4) tells us that this is the full cohomology since the spectrum at the permutation point 1-3 is two-dimensional.

The joining relations at the points 1-2 between the branches Q = (ij)(5l4) and Q' = (l4)(5ij) are

For the points 1-3 between Q = (ij)(4l5) and Q' = (l5)(4ij) we find

$$\begin{array}{l}
\psi \longrightarrow f_1 \\
\psi^{\perp} \longrightarrow f_2 \longleftrightarrow \psi'^{\perp} \\
\psi^{\perp} \longrightarrow f_3 \longleftarrow \psi' .
\end{array}$$
(5.8)

Finally, for the points 2-3 between Q = (k4)(il5) and Q' = (l5)(ik4) the joining relations are

$$\begin{aligned}
\psi &\longrightarrow f_1 \longleftarrow {\psi'}^{\perp} \\
\psi^{\perp} &\longrightarrow f_2 \longleftarrow {\psi'} .
\end{aligned}$$
(5.9)

All states at the permutation points can be continued on the branches, except f_4 . We briefly discuss their obstructions.

At the intersection point 1-2, (ij)(k4)(5), the first order condition for deformations in directions f_3 , f_4 and f_5 are obstructed because

$$-\frac{1}{2}\{f_3, f_3\} = x_i^4 x_k^6 \qquad -\frac{1}{2}\{f_4, f_4\} = x_i^6 x_k^4 \qquad -\frac{1}{2}\{f_5, f_5\} = x_i^8 x_k^2, \tag{5.10}$$

which are all non-trivial in the cohomology. Thus, no further correction to the matrix factorisation can be found, and the direction is obstructed.

For f_2 the obstruction does not occur until the forth order. The second order correction Q_2 that solves

$$\{Q_0, Q_2\} = -\frac{1}{2}\{f_2, f_2\} = x_i^2 x_k^8$$
(5.11)

is given by

$$Q_2 = \frac{\eta'}{5} x_i^2 \left(\pi^2 - \sum_{i=0}^3 {\eta'}^{2i} (i+1) x_3^{2i} x_4^{3-i} \right) .$$
 (5.12)

For the third order correction we then have the equation

$$\{Q_0, Q_3\} = -\{f_2, Q_2\} = 0, \tag{5.13}$$

which is solved by $Q_3 = 0$. At the fourth order we encounter the obstructed equation

$$\{Q_0, Q_4\} = -\{f_2, Q_3\} - \frac{1}{2}\{Q_2, Q_2\}$$
$$= -\frac{{\eta'}^6 x_i^4}{50} \sum_{i=0}^3 {\eta'}^{2i} (i+1) x_k^{2i} x_4^{3-i} .$$

The right hand side of the above equation is gauge equivalent to $\lambda x_i^4 x_k^6$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, which is a non-trivial element of the cohomology. The fermion f_2 is therefore obstructed at fourth order.

5.2 Bulk perturbations and effective superpotentials

The bulk deformations which switch on the various fermions are listed below:

type 1 branch (ij)(4l5):

$$\left\langle s^{(8)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(2)}(x_l, x_4, x_5) \psi \right\rangle = \frac{\eta s^{(8)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{b s^{(2)}(1, b, c)}{c} \left\langle s^{(7)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(3)}(x_l, x_4, x_5) \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = \frac{\eta^2 s^{(7)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{b s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c} \left\langle s^{(6)}(x_i, x_j) s^{(4)}(x_l, x_4, x_5) \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = \frac{\eta^3 s^{(6)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{b s^{(4)}(1, b, c)}{c}$$

$$(5.14)$$

type 2 branch (i4)(kl5):

$$\left\langle s^{(7)}(x_i, x_4) s^{(3)}(x_l, x_k, x_5) \psi \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta s^{(7)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{s^{(3)}(1, b, c)}{c}$$
(5.15)
$$\left\langle s^{(6)}(x_i, x_4) s^{(4)}(x_l, x_k, x_5) \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = -\frac{\eta^2 s^{(6)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{s^{(4)}(1, b, c)}{c}$$

type 3 branch (i5)(kl4):

$$\left\langle s^{(4)}(x_i, x_5) s^{(6)}(x_l, x_k, x_4) \psi \right\rangle = \frac{\eta s^{(4)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{s^{(6)}(1, b, c)}{c^4}$$

$$\left\langle s^{(3)}(x_i, x_5) s^{(7)}(x_l, x_k, x_4) \psi^{\perp} \right\rangle = \frac{\eta^2 s^{(3)}(\eta, 1)}{10} \frac{s^{(7)}(1, b, c)}{c^4}$$
(5.16)

From this we can immediately derive the points in the moduli space for which branes deform with bulk moduli by requiring that the r.h.s. of the ψ -correlators $\langle G\psi \rangle$ vanish. There are 20 such points on type 1 branches, 30 on type 2 and 60 on type 3, at which the matrix factorisations can be deformed with a bulk modulus.

In complete agreement with the previously studied Calabi-Yaus we find that the holomorphic functions on the moduli spaces (5.2) are a basis for bulk-boundary correlators $\langle G\psi \rangle$: The curve $a^{10} + b^5 + c^2 = 0$ (type 1) has genus g = 2 and we find the holomorphic functions [30]

$$\left\{\frac{b^s c^s}{c}, 0 \le 2s + 5c \le 2\right\} . \tag{5.17}$$

For the curve $a^{10} + b^{10} + c^2 = 0$ (type 2) the genus is g = 4. The holomorphic functions are

$$\left\{\frac{b^s c^s}{c}, 0 \le s + 5c \le 3\right\} . \tag{5.18}$$

Finally the curve $a^{10} + b^{10} + c^5 = 0$ (type 3) has genus g = 16 and its holomorphic functions are

$$\left\{\frac{b^s c^s}{c}, 0 \le s + 2c \le 6\right\} . \tag{5.19}$$

Integration of the bulk-boundary correlators leads to the effective superpotentials

$$\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 1}} = \lambda \sum_{i+2j+5k=2} s_{ijk}^{(2)} \mathcal{W}_{2(j+1),5}
\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 2}} = \lambda \sum_{i+2j+5k=2} s_{ijk}^{(3)} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,5}
\mathcal{W}_{\text{eff}}^{\text{type 3}} = \lambda \sum_{i+2j+5k=2} s_{ijk}^{(6)} \mathcal{W}_{j+1,2(k+1)},$$
(5.20)

where

$$\mathcal{W}_{\rm rs} = \frac{b^r}{r_2} \mathsf{F}_1\left(\frac{r}{10}, 1 - \frac{s}{10}; 1 + \frac{r}{10}; -b^{10}\right) \ . \tag{5.21}$$

6 Conclusions

In this article we have extended the work of [10] to the set of one-parameter Calabi-Yaus. It has been shown that the moduli space of lines in these manifolds consists of several branches which are connected at permutation points. These points are distinguished by their enhanced spectrum of marginal states, coming once from the two different fermions generating the flat directions and also from fermions that are marginal only at the permutation points. The underlying symmetry group which is given by the soccer ball diagram is universal for all models that are tensor products of five minimal models; we have seen that this symmetry is modified in weighted space. The joining conditions which determine how the marginal spectra on the branches are connected at permutation points are non-trivial and have been explicitly computed. It is important to understand these conditions in order to get a global view of the moduli space.

It is very interesting to study the lifting of open string moduli under closed string deformations. Under bulk deformations we found that each branch of the moduli space collapses into a set of discrete points which are extrema of an effective potential. There the branes are stable and deform along with complex structure deformations to finite coupling. Since the boundary moduli are now fixed by the bulk moduli the large complex structure limit is accessible. This in principle makes it possible to apply methods as presented in [56] in order to find more examples for open-closed Picard-Fuchs equation. This could in particular be interesting since on each branch a whole set of branes deforms with W, so that the domain wall tensions between various branes can be computed.

For unfixed boundary modulus we have computed explicitly the bulk-induced effective potential for the holomorphic sector of the B-model by integrating the bulk-boundary correlators. It is an essential point to see that this method works not only in the simplest case for the Fermat quintic, but also for more complicated models. In particular we have shown that the bulk-boundary correlators are in one-to-one correspondence to holomorphic differentials on the Riemann curve forming the moduli space. Hence a very concrete geometrical interpretation is assigned to them.

This correspondence is very interesting because it seems that topological data on the moduli space, namely the genus, can be extracted from a computation of bulk-boundary correlators. In practice the genus can correctly be obtained only at generic points, where no bulk-boundary coefficients accidentally vanish. Also, knowledge of the exactly marginal fermion is necessary, which is in a way a 'global' information that enters here. In practice it might often be obvious which of the fermions on the D5-moduli space are obstructed, so that the exactly marginal one can be identified without knowledge of the full deformation theory.

Our calculations are conducted at first order in the bulk moduli. For bulk deformations of higher order we expect that the holomorphic differentials acquire corrections, which should give a hint on a modified moduli space, maybe in a similar way as the first order bulk-boundary correlators determine the genus of the open string moduli space. It seems desirable but unreasonable to attempt to take these computations to higher order, since in our approach we have to keep all possible bulk moduli. For practical purposes this is far too complicated; in order to make progress in this direction the number of bulk moduli could be reduced by dividing out some symmetry. However, the most simple situation in which the Fermat quintic is divided by the diagonal symmetry, is exactly the case where there are no boundary moduli generated by ψ . Rather, in this situation ψ^{\perp} is the important fermion. Since ψ^{\perp} is not exactly marginal we expect a complicated combined bulk-boundary moduli space.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Ilka Brunner, Matthias Gaberdiel and Peter Mayr. The work of M. B. is supported by an EURYI award and that of S. W. by the SNF. Some of the calculations presented here are based on the masters thesis of S. W.

A Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,1)}[5]$

On the Fermat quintic the matrix factorisation can be generally written as

$$(ij)(klm): J_{1} = x_{i} - \eta x_{j} \qquad E_{1} = \prod_{\eta' \neq \eta} (x_{i} - \eta' x_{j})$$
$$J_{2} = ax_{k} - bx_{l} \qquad E_{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{4} \frac{b^{4-i}}{a^{5-i}} x_{l}^{4-i} x_{k}^{i}$$
$$J_{3} = cx_{l} - ax_{m} \qquad E_{3} = -\sum_{i=0}^{4} \frac{c^{i}}{a^{i+1}} x_{m}^{4-i} x_{l}^{i} \qquad (A.1)$$

B Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$

On $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$ we consider the matrix factorisations

$$(5j)(klm): J_1 = x_5 - \eta^2 x_j^2 E_1 = \prod_{\eta'^2 \neq \eta^2} (x_5 - \eta^2 x_j^2) J_2 = ax_k - bx_l E_2 = \sum_{i=0}^5 \frac{b^{5-i}}{a^{6-i}} x_l^{5-i} x_k^i J_3 = cx_l - ax_m E_3 = -\sum_{i=0}^5 \frac{c^i}{a^{i+1}} x_m^{5-i} x_l^i (ij)(kl5): J_1 = x_i - \eta x_j E_1 = \prod_{\eta' \neq \eta} (x_i - \eta' x_j)$$

$$J_{2} = ax_{k} - bx_{l} \qquad E_{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{5} \frac{b^{5-i}}{a^{6-i}} x_{l}^{5-i} x_{k}^{i}$$

$$H_3 = cx_l^2 - a^2 x_5 \qquad E_3 = -\sum_{i=0}^2 \frac{c^{2-i}}{a^{6-2i}} x_l^{4-2i} x_5^i \qquad (B.1)$$

C Marginal spectrum on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$

On branches of type 1 the matrix factorisation takes the form $Q = Q_1 \odot Q_2 \odot Q_3$. The first factor Q_1 is defined by the polynomial $J_1 = x_i - \eta x_j$, so that this part is independent of the boundary moduli. The spectrum of Q_1 consists of three bosons with charges $0, \frac{1}{3} \dots \frac{4}{3}$. In order to construct factorisations of total charge one we look for fermions with charges $1, \frac{2}{3}$ and $\frac{1}{3}$ in the reduced factorisation $Q' = Q_2 \odot Q_3$.

C.1 Fermions of charge 1

The ansatz for a general fermion is⁹

$$\Psi = p_2 \pi^2 + m_2 \bar{\pi}^2 + p_3 \pi^3 + m_3 \bar{\pi}^3 .$$
 (C.1)

⁹One might wonder if higher powers of π and $\bar{\pi}$ can appear. In general, these must indeed be taken into account. But here all such higher order terms are trivial because the matrix factorisation itself contains

In this expression p_i and m_i are polynomials in the variables x_3 , x_4 , x_5 . We list their charges and the corresponding number of free parameters (taking into account the higher charge of x_5):

$$[p_2] = \frac{1}{3}$$
 parameters: 2

$$[p_3] = \frac{4}{3}$$
 parameters: 9

$$[m_2] = \frac{5}{3}$$
 parameters: 12

$$[m_3] = \frac{2}{3}$$
 parameters: 4. (C.2)

Thus the space of such fermions has dimension 27. The closedness equations become

$$p_2 E_2 + p_3 E_3 + m_2 J_2 + m_3 J_3 = 0 . (C.3)$$

For general values of a, b and c this equation supplies 16 constraints.¹⁰ Therefore

$$\dim\left(\operatorname{Ker}(Q_2 \odot Q_3)\right) = 11 . \tag{C.4}$$

In order to determine the dimension of the exact fermions we make the ansatz

$$\Lambda = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \pi^2 \bar{\pi}^2 + \lambda_3 \pi^2 \pi^3 + \lambda_4 \pi^2 \bar{\pi}^3 + \lambda_5 \bar{\pi}^2 \pi^3 + \lambda_6 \bar{\pi}^2 \bar{\pi}^3 + \lambda_7 \pi^3 \bar{\pi}^3 + \lambda_8 \pi^2 \bar{\pi}^2 \pi^3 \bar{\pi}^3 .$$
 (C.5)

The parameters λ_1 and λ_8 can't be used to build fermions (C.1) hence we can set the to zero. The charge of Λ must be zero, thus we get the following list of charges and free parameters:

$$[\lambda_2] = 0$$
parameters: 1 $[\lambda_5] = 1$ parameters: 6 $[\lambda_6] = \frac{1}{3}$ parameters: 2 $[\lambda_7] = 0$ parameters: 1.

There are no λ_3 and λ_4 that could meet the charge constraints, so they have been set to zero. In total we get

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(Q_2 \odot Q_3)) = 10 . \tag{C.7}$$

Thus the cohomology has dimension

$$h(Q_2 \odot Q_3) = 1 . \tag{C.8}$$

Thus there is generically one such fermion in the spectrum.

only linear terms. For instance, for a fermion with a term $p_{ijk}\pi^i\pi^j\bar{\pi}^k + q_{ijk}\pi^i\bar{\pi}^j\bar{\pi}^k$ its closedness condition becomes $\pi^i\pi^j J^k p_{ijk} + \bar{\pi}^i\bar{\pi}^j E^k q_{kij} + \pi^i\bar{\pi}^j (2J^k q_{ijk} + 2E^k p_{kij})$. The first term leads to the condition $p_{232}J^2 + p_{233}J^3 = 0$. Since J^2 and J^3 are linear independent, p_{ijk} must be zero. The same argument sets q_{ijk} to zero.

 $^{^{10}}$ For special values of a, b and c some equations might become dependent. This might lead to less constraints and a higher dimension of the kernel for a finite set of points.

C.2 Fermions of charge $\frac{2}{3}$

The above computations are repeated for fermions of charge $\frac{2}{3}$. In this case we get the following charge tables:

$[p_2] = 0$	parameters: 1	
$[p_3] = 1$	parameters: 6	
$[m_2] = \frac{4}{3}$	parameters: 9	
$[m_3] = \frac{1}{3}$	parameters: 2 .	(C.9)

The closedness condition imposes 12 constraints, thus

$$\dim \left(\operatorname{Ker}(Q_2 \odot Q_3) \right) = 6 . \tag{C.10}$$

For Λ with charge $-\frac{1}{3}$ we find

$$[\lambda_5] = \frac{2}{3}$$
 parameters: 4
 $[\lambda_6] = 0$ parameters: 1 (C.11)

with all other $\lambda_i = 0$. From this

$$\dim(\operatorname{Im}(Q_2 \odot Q_3)) = 5 \tag{C.12}$$

and

$$h(Q_2 \odot Q_3) = 1$$
. (C.13)

C.3 Fermions of charge $\frac{1}{3}$

Now we focus on the fermions of charge $\frac{1}{3}$. The charge tables are:

$[p_3] = \frac{2}{3}$	parameters: 4	
$[m_2] = 1$	parameters: 6	
$[m_3] = 0$	parameters: 1	(C.14)

with $p_2 = 0$. The closedness condition imposes 9 constraints, thus the kernel has dimension zero and the cohomology is empty.

C.4 Fermions of charge 0

For fermions with zero charge we get

$$[p_3] = \frac{1}{3} \qquad \text{parameters: } 2$$
$$[m_2] = \frac{2}{3} \qquad \text{parameters: } 4 \qquad (C.15)$$

with $p_2 = 0 = m_3$. The closedness condition supplies 6 constraints, thus again the kernel has dimension zero and the cohomology is empty.

In total we find that

$$h(Q) = 2, \qquad (C.16)$$

thus there are two fermions defined on the type 1 branches. Since we have found two fermions $\psi = \partial_b Q$ and $\psi^{\perp} = \frac{x_i}{x_k} \partial_b Q$ we have found the maximum number and thus the complete marginal cohomology.

D Obstructions on type-1-branches of $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,2)}[6]$

Since the three-point function

$$\left\langle (\psi^{\perp})^3 \right\rangle = 0$$
 (D.1)

everywhere on the branches (ij)(kl5) we expect obstruction to appear at higher order. A perturbation of Q with ψ^{\perp} leads to the ansatz

$$Q(\lambda) = \sum_{n} \lambda^{n} Q_{n} \tag{D.2}$$

with $Q_0 = Q$ and $Q_1 = \psi^{\perp}$. We know already that ψ^{\perp} is in the cohomology, so the first order equation is already satisfied. The second order equation

$$\{Q_0, Q_2\} = -\frac{1}{2} \{\psi^{\perp}, \psi^{\perp}\}$$
$$= \frac{1}{4\hat{\eta}^{10}} \left(\sum_{i=0}^4 (5-i)b^{4-i}c^8 x_1^2 x_3^{4-i} x_4^i + 2\sum_{i=0}^1 (4-2i)b^{10}c^{2-2i} x_1^2 x_3^{4-2i} x_5^i \right)$$
(D.3)

is solved by

$$Q_{2} = -\left(5\frac{b^{10}}{c^{5}} + 5\frac{b^{4}}{c^{2}}\right)x_{i}^{2}\pi^{3} + \sum_{n=0}^{3}\frac{(n+1)(n+2)}{2}b^{3-n}x_{i}^{2}x_{l}^{3-n}x_{k}^{n}\bar{\pi}^{2} + \left(\left(4\frac{b^{10}}{c^{5}} + 5\frac{b^{4}}{c^{2}}\right)x_{i}^{2}x_{5} + \left(4\frac{b^{10}}{c^{4}} + 10\frac{b^{4}}{c}\right)x_{i}^{2}x_{l}^{2}\right)\bar{\pi}^{3}.$$
(D.4)

With the help of computer algebra software we verify that the third order equation

$$\{Q_0, Q_3\} = -\{\psi^{\perp}, Q_2\}$$
(D.5)

has no solutions. Therefore the fermion ψ^{\perp} is obstructed.

E Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$

On $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,1,4)}[8]$ we consider the matrix factorisations

$$(5j)(klm): J_1 = x_5 - \eta^4 x_j^4 \qquad E_1 = \prod_{\eta'^4 \neq \eta^4} (x_5 - \eta^4 x_j^4)$$
$$J_2 = ax_k - bx_l \qquad E_2 = \sum_{i=0}^7 \frac{b^{7-i}}{a^{8-i}} x_l^{7-i} x_k^i$$

$$J_{3} = cx_{l} - ax_{m} \qquad E_{3} = -\sum_{i=0}^{7} \frac{c^{i}}{a^{i+1}} x_{m}^{7-i} x_{l}^{i}$$

(ij)(kl5): $J_{1} = x_{i} - \eta x_{j} \qquad E_{1} = \prod_{\eta' \neq \eta} (x_{i} - \eta' x_{j})$
 $J_{2} = ax_{k} - bx_{l} \qquad E_{2} = \sum_{i=0}^{7} \frac{b^{7-i}}{a^{8-i}} x_{l}^{7-i} x_{k}^{i}$
 $J_{3} = cx_{l}^{4} - a^{4} x_{5} \qquad E_{3} = -\sum_{i=0}^{1} \frac{c^{1-i}}{a^{8-4i}} x_{l}^{4-4i} x_{5}^{i}$

F Factorisations on $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$

On $\mathbb{P}_{(1,1,1,2,5)}[10]$ we consider the matrix factorisations

 $(4j), j \neq 5: \ J_1 = x_4 - \eta^2 x_j^2 \qquad E_1 = \prod_{\eta'^2 \neq \eta^2} (x_4 - \eta'^2 x_j^2)$ $E_1 = \prod_{n'^5 \neq n^5} (x_5 - {\eta'}^5 x_j^5)$ $(5j), j \neq 4: J_1 = x_5 - \eta^5 x_j^5$ $E_2 = \sum_{i=0}^{9} \frac{b^i}{a^{i+1}} x_k^{9-i} x_l^i$ $(kl5), k, l \neq 4: J_2 = ax_k - bx_l$ $E_3 = -\sum_{i=0}^{1} \frac{c^{1-i}}{a^{10-5i}} x_l^{5-5i} x_5^i$ $J_3 = cx_l^5 - a^5x_5$ $E_2 = \sum_{i=0}^{9} \frac{b^i}{a^{i+1}} x_k^{9-i} x_l^i$ $(kl4), k, l \neq 5: \ J_2 = ax_k - bx_l$ $E_3 = -\sum_{i=0}^4 \frac{c^{4-i}}{a^{10-2i}} x_l^{8-2i} x_4^i$ $J_3 = cx_l^2 - a^2x_4$ $E_2 = \sum_{i=0}^{4} \frac{b^{4-i}}{a^{10-2i}} x_l^{8-2i} x_4^i$ $(4l5), l \neq 4, 5: J_2 = a^2 x_4 - b x_l^2$ $E_3 = -\sum_{i=0}^{1} \frac{c^{1-i}}{a^{10-5i}} x_l^{5-5i} x_5^i$ $J_3 = cx_l^5 - a^5 x_5$ (F.1)

(E.1)

References

- M. Aganagic and C. Vafa, Mirror symmetry, D-branes and counting holomorphic discs, hep-th/0012041 [SPIRES].
- M. Aganagic, A. Klemm and C. Vafa, Disk instantons, mirror symmetry and the duality web, Z. Naturforsch. A 57 (2002) 1 [hep-th/0105045] [SPIRES].

- [3] A. Albano and S. Katz, Lines on the Fermat quintic threefold and the infinitesimal generalized Hodge conjecture, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 324 (1991) 353.
- S.K. Ashok, E. Dell'Aquila, D.-E. Diaconescu and B. Florea, Obstructed D-branes in Landau-Ginzburg orbifolds, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 8 (2004) 427 [hep-th/0404167]
 [SPIRES].
- S.K. Ashok, E. Dell'Aquila and D.-E. Diaconescu, Fractional branes in Landau-Ginzburg orbifolds, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 8 (2004) 461 [hep-th/0401135] [SPIRES].
- [6] P.S. Aspinwall, The Landau-Ginzburg to Calabi-Yau dictionary for D-branes, J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007) 082304 [hep-th/0610209] [SPIRES].
- [7] P.S. Aspinwall, Topological D-branes and commutative algebra, hep-th/0703279 [SPIRES].
- [8] M. Baumgartl, I. Sachs and S.L. Shatashvili, Factorization conjecture and the open/closed string correspondence, JHEP 05 (2005) 040 [hep-th/0412266] [SPIRES].
- M. Baumgartl and I. Sachs, Open-closed string correspondence: D-brane decay in curved space, JHEP 03 (2007) 024 [hep-th/0611112] [SPIRES].
- [10] M. Baumgartl, I. Brunner and M.R. Gaberdiel, *D-brane superpotentials and RG flows on the quintic*, JHEP 07 (2007) 061 [arXiv:0704.2666] [SPIRES].
- [11] V. Braungart and D. Kotschick, The classification of football patterns, math.GT/0606193.
- I. Brunner, M.R. Douglas, A.E. Lawrence and C. Römelsberger, *D-branes on the quintic*, JHEP 08 (2000) 015 [hep-th/9906200] [SPIRES].
- [13] I. Brunner and V. Schomerus, On superpotentials for D-branes in Gepner models, JHEP 10 (2000) 016 [hep-th/0008194] [SPIRES].
- [14] I. Brunner, M. Herbst, W. Lerche and B. Scheuner, Landau-Ginzburg realization of open string TFT, JHEP 11 (2006) 043 [hep-th/0305133] [SPIRES].
- [15] I. Brunner, M. Herbst, W. Lerche and J. Walcher, Matrix factorizations and mirror symmetry: the cubic curve, JHEP 11 (2006) 006 [hep-th/0408243] [SPIRES].
- [16] I. Brunner and M.R. Gaberdiel, Matrix factorisations and permutation branes, JHEP 07 (2005) 012 [hep-th/0503207] [SPIRES].
- [17] I. Brunner, M.R. Gaberdiel and C.A. Keller, Matrix factorisations and D-branes on K3, JHEP 06 (2006) 015 [hep-th/0603196] [SPIRES].
- [18] P. Candelas, X.C. De La Ossa, P.S. Green and L. Parkes, A pair of Calabi-Yau manifolds as an exactly soluble superconformal theory, Nucl. Phys. B 359 (1991) 21 [SPIRES].
- [19] R. Dijkgraaf, H.L. Verlinde and E.P. Verlinde, Topological strings in D < 1, Nucl. Phys. B 352 (1991) 59 [SPIRES].
- [20] M.R. Douglas, S. Govindarajan, T. Jayaraman and A. Tomasiello, *D-branes on Calabi-Yau manifolds and superpotentials, Commun. Math. Phys.* 248 (2004) 85 [hep-th/0203173] [SPIRES].
- [21] H. Enger, A. Recknagel and D. Roggenkamp, Permutation branes and linear matrix factorisations, JHEP 01 (2006) 087 [hep-th/0508053] [SPIRES].
- [22] S. Fredenhagen, M.R. Gaberdiel and C.A. Keller, Bulk induced boundary perturbations, J. Phys. A 40 (2007) F17 [hep-th/0609034] [SPIRES].
- [23] D. Gepner and E. Witten, String theory on group manifolds, Nucl. Phys. B 278 (1986) 493 [SPIRES].

- [24] D. Gepner, Space-time supersymmetry in compactified string theory and superconformal models, Nucl. Phys. B 296 (1988) 757 [SPIRES].
- [25] D. Gepner, Exactly solvable string compactifications on manifolds of SU(N) holonomy, Phys. Lett. B 199 (1987) 380 [SPIRES].
- [26] S. Govindarajan, H. Jockers, W. Lerche and N.P. Warner, Tachyon condensation on the elliptic curve, Nucl. Phys. B 765 (2007) 240 [hep-th/0512208] [SPIRES].
- [27] S. Govindarajan, T. Jayaraman and T. Sarkar, Disc instantons in linear σ-models, Nucl. Phys. B 646 (2002) 498 [hep-th/0108234] [SPIRES].
- [28] S. Govindarajan and H. Jockers, Effective superpotentials for B-branes in Landau-Ginzburg models, JHEP 10 (2006) 060 [hep-th/0608027] [SPIRES].
- [29] B.R. Greene, C. Vafa and N.P. Warner, Calabi-Yau manifolds and renormalization group flows, Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989) 371 [SPIRES].
- [30] P. Griffiths and J. Harris, *Principles of algebraic geometry*, Wiley, New York U.S.A. (1994).
- [31] T.W. Grimm, T.-W. Ha, A. Klemm and D. Klevers, The D5-brane effective action and superpotential in N = 1 compactifications, Nucl. Phys. B 816 (2009) 139 [arXiv:0811.2996] [SPIRES].
- [32] M. Herbst and C.-I. Lazaroiu, Localization and traces in open-closed topological Landau-Ginzburg models, JHEP 05 (2005) 044 [hep-th/0404184] [SPIRES].
- [33] M. Herbst, C.-I. Lazaroiu and W. Lerche, D-brane effective action and tachyon condensation in topological minimal models, JHEP 03 (2005) 078 [hep-th/0405138] [SPIRES].
- [34] M. Herbst, C.-I. Lazaroiu and W. Lerche, Superpotentials, A_{∞} relations and WDVV equations for open topological strings, JHEP **02** (2005) 071 [hep-th/0402110] [SPIRES].
- [35] M. Herbst, K. Hori and D. Page, Phases of N = 2 theories in 1 + 1 dimensions with boundary, arXiv:0803.2045 [SPIRES].
- [36] K. Hori, Linear models of supersymmetric D-branes, hep-th/0012179 [SPIRES].
- [37] K. Hori and J. Walcher, F-term equations near Gepner points, JHEP 01 (2005) 008 [hep-th/0404196] [SPIRES].
- [38] H. Jockers and M. Soroush, Effective superpotentials for compact D5-brane Calabi-Yau geometries, arXiv:0808.0761 [SPIRES].
- [39] S. Kachru, S.H. Katz, A.E. Lawrence and J. McGreevy, Mirror symmetry for open strings, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 126005 [hep-th/0006047] [SPIRES].
- [40] S. Kachru, S.H. Katz, A.E. Lawrence and J. McGreevy, Open string instantons and superpotentials, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 026001 [hep-th/9912151] [SPIRES].
- [41] A. Kapustin and Y. Li, D-branes in Landau-Ginzburg models and algebraic geometry, JHEP 12 (2003) 005 [hep-th/0210296] [SPIRES].
- [42] A. Kapustin and Y. Li, Topological correlators in Landau-Ginzburg models with boundaries, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7 (2004) 727 [hep-th/0305136] [SPIRES].
- [43] A. Kapustin and Y. Li, D-branes in topological minimal models: the Landau-Ginzburg approach, JHEP 07 (2004) 045 [hep-th/0306001] [SPIRES].
- [44] A. Klemm and S. Theisen, Considerations of one modulus Calabi-Yau compactifications: Picard-Fuchs equations, Kähler potentials and mirror maps, Nucl. Phys. B 389 (1993) 153 [hep-th/9205041] [SPIRES].

- [45] J. Knapp and E. Scheidegger, Towards open string mirror symmetry for one-parameter Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces, arXiv:0805.1013 [SPIRES].
- [46] C.I. Lazaroiu, On the boundary coupling of topological Landau-Ginzburg models, JHEP 05 (2005) 037 [hep-th/0312286] [SPIRES].
- [47] W. Lerche, C. Vafa and N.P. Warner, Chiral rings in N = 2 superconformal theories, Nucl. Phys. B 324 (1989) 427 [SPIRES].
- [48] W. Lerche and P. Mayr, On N = 1 mirror symmetry for open type-II strings, hep-th/0111113 [SPIRES].
- [49] W. Lerche, P. Mayr and N. Warner, N = 1 special geometry, mixed Hodge variations and toric geometry, hep-th/0208039 [SPIRES].
- [50] P. Mayr, N = 1 mirror symmetry and open/closed string duality, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 5 (2002) 213 [hep-th/0108229] [SPIRES].
- [51] A. Neitzke and J. Walcher, Background independence and the open topological string wavefunction, arXiv:0709.2390 [SPIRES].
- [52] D. Orlov, Triangulated categories of singularities and D-branes in Landau-Ginzburg models, math.AG/0302304 [SPIRES].
- [53] A. Recknagel and V. Schomerus, Boundary deformation theory and moduli spaces of D-branes, Nucl. Phys. B 545 (1999) 233 [hep-th/9811237] [SPIRES].
- [54] A. Recknagel, Permutation branes, JHEP 04 (2003) 041 [hep-th/0208119] [SPIRES].
- [55] J. Walcher, Stability of Landau-Ginzburg branes, J. Math. Phys. 46 (2005) 082305
 [hep-th/0412274] [SPIRES].
- [56] J. Walcher, Opening mirror symmetry on the quintic, Commun. Math. Phys. 276 (2007) 671 [hep-th/0605162] [SPIRES].
- [57] N.P. Warner, Supersymmetry in boundary integrable models, Nucl. Phys. B 450 (1995) 663 [hep-th/9506064] [SPIRES].
- [58] E. Witten, Phases of N = 2 theories in two dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 403 (1993) 159
 [hep-th/9301042] [SPIRES].
- [59] E. Witten, *D-branes and k-theory*, *JHEP* **12** (1998) 019 [hep-th/9810188] [SPIRES].